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DR. ELSAYED:  Please have a seat.  Good morning, everyone.  Any preliminary matters?

MR. KEIZER:  We have none.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Shepherd?  Nobody else?  I have one.
Preliminary Matters:


DR. ELSAYED:  Just a quick one.  Just related to the request by Alectra for confidentiality status for the financial plan.  As you know, the OEB stated earlier that it will treat the plan as confidential on an interim basis pending Alectra's submission on which sections it believes should be redacted.

Alectra provided three documents that comprise the financial plan.  As described in Alectra's letter of October 16, 2019 to the OEB, they described that within the three documents there were two categories of information for which they're seeking confidential treatment.

The first one was information related to Alectra's -- Inc.'s non-regulated business activities, along with consolidated information relating to both Alectra Utilities' regulated business and Alectra Inc.'s non-regulated business activities.

Alectra proposed that this category be permanently redacted, meaning available only to the OEB.  Alectra claimed that this information is not relevant to the application.

The second category was information that Alectra claimed to be commercially sensitive as it relates to current or anticipated negotiations with the PWU.  This information was proposed to be redacted from the public record, but made available to those who sign the declaration and undertakings for it.

So I am just letting you know that the OEB will make a decision on the first category.  On the second one I am just asking a question here as to whether anyone intends to object to Alectra's request for the second category, given that it is related to negotiations with its union.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  No.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  So we will now go to Mr. Shepherd.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd (Cont'd):

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

So I was in K2.3.  And I just have two other questions about this particular document.  The first is on page 2 of K2.3.  I will give you a second to bring it up.  That is the memo.

MR. BASILIO:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is your sort of summary of the summary for your board of directors, right, Mr. Basilio?

MR. BASILIO:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And at the top of page 2 you list basically three categories of reasons why you are not doing as well as your previous plan.  The first is that you misunderstood the Board's ICM policy, and so your old plan assumed more revenue than it should have.  And I am not asking you to agree to that.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, you have mischaracterized it, though --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  -- in your statement.  I think, you know, it is verbatim, not that we misunderstood.  It was an unexpected decision, really.  Unexpected outcomes is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So --


MR. BASILIO:  -- I think how I would characterize it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- we will come back to how you misunderstood it in a minute.

MR. BASILIO:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talk about other regulatory impacts like the customer service rules.

Then the next category is blocked out, but I assume that is the PWU.  In fact, you refer to it on the next page.

And the third category is higher depreciation costs because you changed your capital plan and you actually put more assets into service.  So I sort of have that right, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  The third, it talked about harmonization processes.  So the third was changes in estimates essentially arising from harmonization of the four -- more refinements to calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is service life estimates, right?

MR. BASILIO:  But the other two you have characterized correctly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You discuss the problem with the OEB as it's inconsistent with the Board's decision in the merger application, and you talked about that yesterday, and I am going to come back to that, but not very much, because we have talked about it a lot.

But what I wanted to go to is the part below where you say one of the ways management is dealing with it is through advocacy with the government.  And I am trying to understand -- we talked about this at the technical conference, and it didn't sound like it was advocacy so much as sort of regular contacts with the Ministry of Energy.

But this, what you are reporting to your board of directors, sounds like -- and I am not meaning to put these words in your mouth, I am telling you what it reads to
me -- we went to the government and complained about the Board's decision.  Is that sort of right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I think it is advocacy on consolidation.  You will also note in that line that we haven't just spoken with government.  We have spoken with the OEB, industry associations, et cetera, which I think is pretty typical, actually, when you are seeking understanding or perhaps change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't complain to the Minister of Energy about the OEB's 2018 decision.

MR. BASILIO:  I wouldn't characterize it as a complaint.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is all I have on that document.

Can we go to the presentation, which is K2.4.  And this is a presentation, Mr. Basilio, that you actually gave to the board of directors.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Cananzi, you were there?

MR. BASILIO:  If I might, we would have taken the audit committee through this presentation in detail.  The board of directors would have -- you know, I would have flipped to a few pages.  They would have had it in advance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so when it says it is a presentation of the board of directors, that is not true.

MR. BASILIO:  It is absolutely a presentation of the board of directors.  The board of directors receives materials in advance, reviews the materials.  The focus at the board of directors level is to really -- is not to do a page flip through an entire presentation, but rather it would be my judgment to take them to pages that I think are the most relevant and really to take questions for clarification for the most part.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That seems strange to me.  Normally a presentation is a road map for what you tell somebody.

MR. BASILIO:  It is actually not strange at all.  It is pretty typical practice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  I will move on.  So can we go to page 3 of this.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this looks like -- because page 3 is your entire executive summary, right, one page?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  It's a very high level, you know, kind of what happened with detail to follow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all it talks about is the material impacts on your plan are OEB, OEB, OEB.  It sounds like you're saying, well, we would have been on plan except those guys at the OEB, they did all of this stuff.  I mean, this is your execution for not meeting plan, right?

MR. BASILIO:  It's not an excuse.  It's the principal impacts and their changes, right, regulatory risks, changes, having an impact on the plan, and really implications relative to the prior-year plan.

So what has changed in terms of expectations, and the most material things, with the exception of the redacted bullet, were these items.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  For the regulated entity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, this is all regulated entity in this executive summary, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we know the redaction is about the PWU.  It has to be, because that is all you redacted, right?

MR. BASILIO:  You can assume.  We also redacted information regarding non-regulated entities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is why I asked you this executive summary is just regulated and therefore --


MR. BASILIO:  It's just -- well, regulated is the context of this discussion, I think.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your discussion of the regulatory risks -- I am going to come back to it, because you then repeat this list on page 10 of your -- page 11 of your presentation.  If you want to turn to that -- where you --


MR. BASILIO:  I've got it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- say those things, all of those changes to the regulatory framework, cost us over this -- over the five-year period $66.6 million to plan.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  Net of the shared services costs, 62.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is also a regulatory change though, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it is a regulatory change, but it doesn't arise as a result of an OEB -- a Board policy change, or an outcome of a Board decision or that sort of thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's right.  It is a different regulator.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But same thing.  You're on -- they change the rules.  What can we do?

MR. BASILIO:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  So back to page 3, what I am trying to understand is -- I get the sense that you said to your board of directors, look, everybody in the industry was fooled by this change in the ICM; nobody expected this.  Is that what you think?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that what you told them?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  We would have reviewed the outcome of the ICM decision, how it differed from our expectations.  As we have articulated here, largely in exhibits or otherwise, in terms of capital approved, the mechanics of the approval, the additional materiality threshold and the implications of that, and what the associated outcome was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I ask that is that nobody else -- and you can correct me, if I'm wrong -- it appears to me that nobody else who has done a merger has come into the Board and said please fund our whole DSP.  Have they?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't believe so, but we were the first filer, I believe, under the new MAADs policy which had some new MAADs conditions.

Under the former MAADs policy, that I can't remember who -- I think it was Mr. Brett yesterday took us back to the 2007 policy, which had a maximum five-year rebasing deferral period with the opportunity to come in earlier, having to demonstrate need.  And so, you know, in those cases, I think under that regime, circumstances may have been a little bit different.

But, you know, I think our context is different, and that's the nature of the M-factor, sort of the special needs and why this is particularly important for us.

So I think it is relatively new, you know, if we're going down...

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your proposal is that, for example -- what is their name?  Elexicon in Whitby?  It's Elexicon, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They can come in and say please fund our whole DSP, right?  And that would be legitimate, same rules as for you, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I can't speak for Elexicon.  They will do whatever they think they need to do in their judgment.

What we're proposing here is something that is unique to Alectra needs.  I can't speak to the nature of their capital program, or what they need, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is exactly what I am trying to get at.  As I understand it, you are trying to get this Board Panel to say we're going to fund the whole DSP for somebody who is in a deferred rebasing period.  And that's what you're saying, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I think we're asking them to fund -- you know, we might quibble over what we're asking for here.  I think we're asking them to fund the incremental portion, the additional normal and expected investments.  That's what we're asking for.

We're asking for what we view as being in the spirit of the MAADs policy.  And you have heard us discuss that with other intervenors under cross, that what we're looking for here is what we would have expected in the MAADs policy, incremental investment for normal and expected capital not funded in rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  That is what we're asking for.  It's the highest level, I would say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you disagreeing you are asking for your whole DSP to be funded, either in base rates or in extra funding?  Are you disagreeing with that, because you've said it on the record several times already.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't think so, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you're not saying that that only applies to Alectra.  That applies to anybody who is in a deferred rebasing period and has capital needs in excess of --


MR. BASILIO:  No, we are not saying that.  We're not saying that at all.  We're asking for something specifically for Alectra.

What other entities decide to do is up to them, whether the Board -- you know, the Board will render a decision here, and it will make its determination on the applicability of M-factor, you know, and it will go from there.

We're not speaking for the sector; we're not speaking for other utilities.  We're here with a unique application, tailored to our needs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not suggesting that you're speaking for the sector.  That wasn't my question.

My question is:  Are you asking the Board to establish a policy that applies to companies who have capital needs over and above what's funded in base rates and are in a deferred rebasing period.  Is that what you are asking for?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  You know, I'm having a bit of a tough time with the question, because what I think -- I don't think I'm asking the Board to change policy per se.

What we're asking the Board to do is to look at a mechanism tailored to our needs, that's consistent with its MAADs policy with regard to incremental funding for normal and expected capital investments.  That's what we're asking for here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that does not answer my question.  Let me come at it a different way to see if I can -- because it's a different discussion.  Our arguments look different; everything is different depending on what you are asking for.

If you're saying the way we're different, our special needs, as you refer to them, are that we have capital needs in excess of our DSP and we're in a deferred rebasing.  That is how we're special.

And if that is what you're saying, then logically, anybody else who can say the same thing gets their whole DSP funded.

And if that's not the case, then I am going to ask you how else are you special that makes you different from the other ones.  Because when the Board's deciding what they give you, they have to consider what are the implications for everybody else.

MR. BASILIO:  You're making an assumption in your question.  Your view that logically speaking.

I don't know that I necessarily see the logic of that, frankly.  We're asking something -- those are unique needs.  Those are the principal differentiating factors, for sure, the fact that we're in a rebasing deferral period.  We went through a merger and we have, you know, incremental needs.

But as to the, as to whether it logically follows that the Board has to do this for everybody, I don't know that that is necessarily the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am not asking you to say that.  I am inviting you to say that you're different from other people who meet those criteria.  And if you're not going to say that, that's fine, that's great.  But that has implications for what the Board decides.

MR. BASILIO:  I think the other piece here though is that we have shown some unique reliability needs, and of course that's the driver of a lot of the incremental.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's about the prudence of your DSP, though, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Of course.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That has nothing to do with the mechanism; that has to do with the prudence of the DSP.

MR. BASILIO:  But it is driving the -- sorry, if I have off-track here, but the discussion started around, I thought, a bit around policy and that's the driver of the incremental need. That's why we're here, incremental investment for normal and expected capital within a rebasing deferral period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want you to go to page 8 of this presentation, if you could, please -- oh, no, look at page 7 first.

You talk about how your earnings are going to go down, and we're going to talk about that in a second.  But you say despite these unfavourable earnings results or forecasts, you're still going to have an A credit rating, right?

MR. BASILIO:  I think I have answered this question before.  That's correct.  We're talking about and just again -- maybe I will repeat the context.

It is a 3-billion-dollar-change rate base.  It is $265 million ask over five years, with an associated $60 million revenue requirement across those five years, about -- what's that?  Yeah, fifty -- and, you know, that's not enough to move the needle at this point on credit rating.  But the statistics do deteriorate in the absence of funding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me -- I am going to get to the 60.9 million, but can you tell me where that is in your evidence?  Everywhere I have seen in your evidence, you talk about 21.8 million.  I've looked everywhere to see where the 60.9 million was.

MR. BASILIO:  I thought we provided that value in an undertaking -- or not an undertaking, a response to an IR.  It is 21.3 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  21.8 million.

MR. BASILIO:  21.8 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In year five.  Is the 60.9 million somewhere?

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, can I just confer?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, I gave a five-year additive number.  It is 21.3 -- or 21.8.  21.3 or 21.8?  21.8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  21.8 is the year-five impact.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the actual extra money you get if the Board gives you what you want is $60.9 million; is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct, across the five-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's nowhere in your evidence, is it?  The first time you said it is here, right now.

MR. BASILIO:  I'm told that we haven't provided that.  It is the year over year -- if you add up across the five years that's the number it would come to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you understand it is different if we're arguing here about 21 million versus 61 million, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I think we have been clear on the context of the 21 million, though, and I think logic would dictate that if it is 21 million in year five, it is probably not zero in years one to four.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  And the riders continue, of course --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --

MR. BASILIO:  -- through to rebasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to get to that.  So if you go to page 8 of your presentation, you talk about your ICM revenue of 6.9 million in 2019.  Now, that was before you had the decision, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Shepherd, that's inclusive of the Enersource ICM revenue from 2016, plus the 2018 Alectra ICM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 6.9 million is?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is what you were asking about, isn't it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's right.  And the 38 --

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Shepherd, can I just interject for a second.  Just, we have just got some confusion.  Can you please just explain the 21.8 and the 60.9, specifically what those numbers are?  What they are -- what they represent?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.  If I take you to Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 16, Table 6.  If you look at the total in each year that are presented as discrete years, as we had indicated regarding the M-factor riders that each one comes on and then continues until rebasing, the 61 million is the additive.

So if we were -- and with the -- with due regard for the fact that yesterday we updated the Guelph numbers, but these are still static, because we haven't changed the ask.  So I just want to pause there and be clear.

The year-one revenue requirement would be 4.7 million.  The year-two revenue requirement would be 4.7 plus 2.3.  The year-three revenue requirement would be -- well, the rider would be 4.7, 2.3, plus 3.9, and so on, 4.7, 2.3, 3.9, plus 5.6 in year four, and then adding the bottom-line numbers, 4.7 plus 2.3 plus 3.9 plus 5.6 plus 5.4 gets you to a total of 61 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you, that was very helpful.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  In revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am still on page 8.  And you see the figure of 38.4 million?  So that's -- tell me whether this is right.  That is --

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Reference?

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, we were just finishing up here.  If you could just take us through that again, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the same page 8 we were just talking about.

MR. BASILIO:  Yup.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right beside the 6.9 million is 38.4 million, which if I understand it is 50 percent of your ask for 2019, the actual ordered amount for 2018, the Enersource amount, plus 50 percent of what you thought you needed for ICM for '20 to '23; is that right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  With one correction on the characterization of the last part of your statement.

It isn't what we thought we needed.  It is based on the 50 percent recovery assumption, based on the decision that we had earlier in that same year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had a perception that the right ICM amount was X.  And for '20 to '23 you use half X.

MR. BASILIO:  We did so on the basis of conservatism.

Again, when you think about the stakeholders that see the plan you're setting -- at the end of the day you're setting, what are the expectations in terms of outcomes?

So on the basis of conservatism what we did was, we built a financial plan that included essentially what the full DSP was, you know, our understanding of what the full DSP was at that time.

And then based on past Board decisions we said, well, look, you know, there's a probability we could only get half, and so in setting the outcomes we discounted the ICM capital and the ICM revenue requirement by 50 percent for prospective ICM capital in arriving at a financial plan, financial plan outcomes like, you know, income, cash flow, those source of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask you why you did it, I just asked you whether it was 50 percent.

But it is under promise, over deliver, right?  That is what you're talking about.

MR. BASILIO:  No, it is to try and provide a financial plan that is reasonable with some level of conservatism that stakeholders can look at and set reasonable expectations upon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then let's go to page 10, because this is the comparison of your 2019 plan over year 2018 plan, and what you're -- I mean, the whole theme of this presentation is, our new plan isn't as good as our old plan and here's the reasons why, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's the purpose of this, to show essentially what's changed from the prior year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the distribution revenue, that 38.4 million unfavourable reduction in distribution revenue, that's primarily because of the various OEB impacts, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Principally the ICM and -- yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And then the operating expenses, you will see that there's an adjustment there in 2018 and 2019.  That's mostly PWU timing issues, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the depreciation, that's two things.  That's useful lives, and that's more IT and less distribution infrastructure, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it's not -- I just want to be clear on this.  It's not as a result of a change in useful life policy.  It's as a result of the change in the mix of capital that we spoke about earlier that relative to the prior year what we were finding is that -- and again, this is sort of a change in estimate -- higher amortizing IT assets.  There were larger investments in those that weren't properly contemplated in the prior-year plan.

CI -- the integration assets, right?  CIS, ERP, those sorts of things that amortize more fully.

So change in the mix of capital relative to the prior-year plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so then that is only this IT change.  That's not --

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, and of course the ICM reduction -- well --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Depreciation?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, ICM capital depreciates, right?  So there would be some impact for ICM capital.  Yes.  Because in the 2018 plan -- or, sorry, in the prior-year plan I don't believe we assumed a 50 percent discount on ICM capital.  So that would have had some impact as well.  You --

MR. SHEPHERD:  You wouldn't ask for less capital -- or more capital, sorry.

MR. BASILIO:  No, we thought our recoveries would be higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What does that have to do with depreciation?  That has to do with revenue.  Not depreciation.

MR. BASILIO:  No.  It has to do with depreciation, because once the assets go into service they depreciate.  Once the ICM assets go into service they depreciate.  But the depreciation is relatively small because they're very long-lived assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Basilio, let's -- I think we are getting a little confused here.  If you get -- if the Board says you get less recovery of capital, that affects your revenue line, but it has nothing to do with your depreciation line.

If you put less capital into service, that affects your depreciation line.  Am I correct?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  But this is a year-over-year plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  This is a year-over-year change.  So the assumption in the prior year was a higher level of ICM recovery.  Therefore, the depreciation trend for those years, all other things being equal, would have been higher as it relates to distribution system capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Once again, the lower ICM recovery only affects depreciation if you put less capital in the ground.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  There's a change in assumption here that...

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a yes or no question.

MR. BASILIO:  If you're suggesting that there is no -- and frankly, it is an immaterial impact, so I don't even know why we're talking about it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you raised it.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the bottom line is, based on changes in assumptions between the 2018 and 2019 plan around ICM recoveries, there is a depreciation impact.  It's small, but there is an impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have an unfavourable interest expense.  Now, I thought I saw somewhere that actually your interest rates were lower than expected.  So I am trying to understand why you had an unfavourable interest expense in your new forecast.

And it's not nothing, right?   $13.8 million is a fair bit.

MR. BASILIO:  No, it's not nothing and it's not insignificant.  I think there were two elements to this.  One, the interest rate forecast was lower relative to the prior year.  Economists have been predicting rate rises forever; I think we're all probably familiar with that.  They haven't materialized.  In fact, rates have gone down.

Two, you know, we were looking at a commercial paper program that we've implemented.  That was expected to provide some savings.

So long-term debt rates we have been forecasting to be lower than the prior year plan.  Again, this is sort of a plan over plan changes in assumptions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So maybe I am misunderstanding this table.  These are bracketed numbers, so doesn't that mean that is an unfavourable difference?  That means more interest expense than last year.

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, yes sorry.  I've got it in reverse.  It would have had to do with two things, cashflow, changes and interest rate changes in assumptions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You just said the interest rate changes were...

MR. BASILIO:  Subject to check.  I will go back and look, but I think plan over plan, those would have been the two variables.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Okay.  And then your taxes of course have a favourable impact, and that is almost entirely driven -- almost entirely, not quite, but almost entirely driven by the lower distribution revenue, right?

MR. BASILIO:  By the lower income overall, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's is driven by the fact that you didn't get the ICM revenue, right?

MR. BASILIO:  We've got -- right.  But you've got three components here.  You've got distribution revenue.  Other income.  Depreciation are driving lower -- and as you just mentioned, Mr. Shepherd, the interest expense.

So there are a few categories.  It is not just distribution revenue.  But that is certainly a very material component.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then finally you have an unfavourable change because of the GR&ET Centre, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Our commitment to the GR&ET Centre, right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's because in the 2018 plan, you hadn't acquired Guelph yet, and the GR&ET Centre is tied to the Guelph transaction.

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I asked about all of these things, even though most have nothing to do with your capital plan, is it appears that getting the OEB's -- getting the interpretation of the OEB's ICM policy wrong isn't the only mistake you made in this plan.  There is lots of other big changes that you had to make.

And I am not saying they're mistakes in the sense that you were stupid. I'm saying this is the sort of thing that happens.  You forecast and then you have to go back and reforecast when you didn't get your estimates right.  Isn't that true?

MR. BASILIO:  But, Mr. Shepherd, just to clarify, in the executive summary and in this document, certainly
the -- and I don't want to characterize these as OEB changes.  They're changes in outcomes and expectations that arise from an expectation gap between what we thought we were going to get from ICM and what we got, changes in policies around disconnect -- you know, customer service rules, those sort of things and as well depreciation. We were specific about that as one of the major drivers.

So the notion that somehow we blamed this all on the Board is a complete mischaracterization of what was presented to our board of directors and the key drivers.  Certainly interest would have been discussed.  It's not as material as the prior to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why don't you go back to page 3, then, and show me where the higher depreciation is flagged in your executive summary.

MR. BASILIO:  Just give me a second.  I will take you back to actually K2.3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no.

MR. BASILIO:  It's the paragraph you referred to, Mr. Shepherd, that...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Basilio, I ask the questions.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, you are asking about what we showed our Board and you are trying to do that on a very selective basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am allowed to do that.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I am allowed to answer the question truthfully, I think, in terms of what was faithfully represented to our Board.  And if you look at bullet 4 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, I asked a specific question I am entitled to a specific answer to that question.  He can say it's not there, but it's somewhere else.  But he cannot say I'm not going to answer your question.  That's wrong.

DR. ELSAYED:  No, but is going to K2.3 intended to answer the question?

MR. BASILIO:  Mr. Chair, if I am offside, then I will take a more narrow approach.  What I am trying to do is present what was faithfully represented to our board of directors with respect to the variances.

Mr. Shepherd's line of questioning seems to be that our whole plight is as a result of what happened here from, you know, from a Board policy or outcomes perspective.

That's not -- that certainly is a significant component, but it is not the only component.  And if that is where the line of questioning is going, then that is certainly not a faithful representation of the truth here.

DR. ELSAYED:  So go ahead with K2.3, but then we will go back to Mr. Shepherd to see if his answer if his question has been answered.

MR. BASILIO:  If you look at bullet 4 on page 2 of K2.3, then you would see that what was in the executive summary -- this is the first thing the board of directors is going to look at.  It covers the plan.

We very clearly did talk about our unexpected outcomes of Board decisions, changes to the policy rules, but as well as higher depreciation costs which, if we go back to the exhibit that Mr. Shepherd was referring to on, I think, slide 8 of the presentation was a very material contributor to the five-year plan over plan adverse variance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now back to my question.  Page 3 of your presentation, the executive summary, where does it say higher depreciation is at least as big an impact as regulatory risk and changes?  Or where does it say anything about it at all?

MR. BASILIO:  It doesn't say anything. I am not sure of the relevance, though.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, I wonder if we could go to page 14.  We will come back to your IT change, but let's go to page 14.

So this is the capital plan that you are presenting to your board of directors, right, in December 2019, ten months ago?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said yesterday it's basically the same as the DSP.  It's not exactly the same, but it is basically the same.

MR. BASILIO:  I mean, yeah, I think it's basically the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So first of all, can you explain what the potential ICM decision impact is?  Before you answer, let me make it clear.

It looks to me like you're saying this is an amount of needed capital that we think may not be funded by the Board.

MR. BASILIO:  If you are referring to the line "potential ICM decision impact"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is not a revenue thing or anything like that, because this is a capital table.  So it is about the amount of capital that you think you might not get funded.

MR. BASILIO:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  And that is 50 percent of the amount that you thought qualified?

MR. BASILIO:  At that time, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for 2020, that is not cumulative any more, that is a one year number, 29 million?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we understand it correctly, you said we really need to fund 58 million, but we're only going to get half so we reduce by 29 million, right?

MR. BASILIO:  So how I would have characterized that with the Board would have been our need is 58.  But in terms of -- and we need that.  But in terms of what might get funded, it's 29.

And so we are going to have to -- if we only get 29, what we're going to have to think about is how do we do our capital program with a program budget of 254.6 rather than 254.6 plus the additional 29.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the line total net capital expenditures, is that the amount of capital you're asking the board of directors to approve?  Or is the number that you're asking them to approve the number before the ICM decision impact?

MR. BASILIO:  It would have been the number before, so about 1.416 billion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  For 2019-22, and then you have to add -- I mean, to have a five-year over five-year you would have to add 23.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're asking for approval for is the higher amount, even though you're not going to be funded for $137 million of it?

MR. BASILIO:  So we're not asking for -- just to clarify, we're not asking for funding of the total DSP.  We're asking for funding for the difference between -- and I don't have the number -- whatever we would have thought would have been funded by the DSP, and we would have been asking for funding for the ICM component, I guess.  We're not asking for funding for the total DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, we are at cross-purposes here again.

I'm asking -- for you to spend money on capital in the billion-dollar range your board of directors has to say, yes, you can, right?

MR. BASILIO:  The Board approves the budget; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the board approved a capital budget for this five-year period that is $137.1 million higher than you expect to have funded in the same plan.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  The board of directors would have approved the net capital expenditure number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's the question I asked you, and that is why I -- that's why --


MR. BASILIO:  Well, I didn't understand your question, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they only approved, and right now you only have approval to spend the net capital expenditures from your board, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  Subject to our CEO's authority limits, which do grant him discretion beyond the budget amounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not $100 million.

MR. BASILIO:  No.  But it's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Certainly not $265 million?

MR. BASILIO:  I would say 25.  Then we would go back to the board.

But what, you know, what clearly the board does understand is the need versus, you know, what the expectation might be, and then management has a challenge as to whether they can manage or not.  But we don't meet with the board once a year if we -- you know, and the board does approve -- the board is aware of the ICM application, the audit committee certainly is.  So -- but, you know, at the end of the day the board approves this, there is some discretion, there is ongoing discussion.  It is not a hard number that is necessarily fixed in perpetuity.  It can, you know, it can change.  A budget is really a snapshot at a point in time that you move forward with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then what does your board of directors do?  If they don't have any control over your capital expenditures, then what do they do?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, they do have control over our capital expenditures, but that is not static at a point in time.  We're regularly communicating with our board of directors around changes in needs, changes in circumstances, those sort of things.  A budget is a snapshot at a point in time that gets approved.  That doesn't mean that's the only capital that's approved within the scope of a 12-month or five-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So as of right now you are asking this Board to approve the spending of $282.9 million in 2020, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And right now your board of directors has approved 254.6 million for that same year, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, we're talking about a different period now, though, right?  Now we're -- so this is the 2019 plan, but the DSP covers 2020 to 2024.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Again we're at cross-purposes.  I asked you what are you asking for this Board from in 2020.  Just 2020.

MR. BASILIO:  This Board or my Board?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This Board.

MR. BASILIO:  Okay.  Well, that wasn't --


MR. SHEPHERD:  282.9 million.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  We are asking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  For 2020.

MR. BASILIO:  I just want to verify.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  We are asking this Board to approve for the period 2020 to 2024 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sir -- that's not my question.

MR. BASILIO:  -- 265 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not my question.  My question was, how much are you asking this Board to approve you spend in capital in 2020.  The answer is 282.9 million,  the amount in your DSP.

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, in the year 2020?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what I said.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHEPHERD:  I took this right out of page 49 of your DSP.  282.9 million in 2020.  This should be the easy question.

MR. BASILIO:  I just don't have the number in front of me.  You are looking at an exhibit that has 2020 capital in total, DSP, M-factor plus, 282?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 49 of Exhibit 4-4- --


MR. BASILIO:  282 point --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Yup.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what your board has approved for the year 2020 right now as we speak is 254.6 million.

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then show us the approval for more than that, because that is your document.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Firstly, the board approves a budget for a single year and we present a five-year plan.  So they would have approved the 2019 capital, just to be clear.  Our board of directors is aware that we're filing an application seeking the approval of the amounts in front of the Board.

So Mr. Shepherd, if the suggestion is that somehow our board of directors is unaware, unsupportive of the amounts that are in front of this Board, I can assure you, my neck being the first one on the chopping block, that it's all of those things, and it is very supportive of us moving forward with this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't suggest that your board -- your board wasn't allowing you to make this application.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, you are asking if my board approved --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What did your board approve for 2020?

MR. BASILIO:  In this document before you, the board approved nothing for 2020.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to take you to page 69 of K2.5.  I am asking you this question for a reason.  There is a confusion in your financial plan.  So on page 69 of K2.5.  Do you have that?

MR. BASILIO:  I have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you see right near the top, management is seeking approval for 2019 and 2020 capital expenditures of 253 and 280 and explains why two-year approval is a good idea.

So that's why I'm asking the question, has your board of directors approved the 254.6 for 2020?  Or the 280?  Or nothing?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Just the one year was approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't approval for the 280?  No?

MR. BASILIO:  Not in this -- in the context of this document, Mr. Shepherd, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have approval for 280 right now?  Because --


MR. BASILIO:  I have approval for what's before the Board.  Here.  This Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have an approval --


MR. BASILIO:  I don't have -- management -- the board is aware and supportive of the application.  I think we're getting into semantics here.

Your line of questioning was around some confusion.  What the board approved and the context of this document on December 13th of 2018 was a one-year capital plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- and even though you asked for two years you only got one year, and that's why I'm asking the question, because either your board said if it's not funded we're not going to approve it, in which case they're saying, we don't need to spend this much, we'll be fine.  Or they said, we'll spend the additional money whether it's funded or not.  Which is it?

MR. BASILIO:  The Board hasn't said either of those things.  The Board approves a plan, you know, as a matter of control, but also as a matter of setting expectations.

So it's not -- you know, it's not as cut and dried as what you try and make it out to be, Mr. Shepherd.  Like, it's not -- you know, those points aren't as fine, I think, as, you know, what you're implying here.

DR. ELSAYED:  Could I ask a clarifying question.  Did the board review or approve your DSP?

MR. BASILIO:  The board is aware and supportive of the DSP.  We don't have a formal approval for the DSP, but we don't need one.  That's in management's discretion, but our board is supportive of this DSP, of this application.  They're aware of the issues, they're aware of the amounts.

DR. ELSAYED:  So in terms of capital expenditures does your board approve just one year at a time?

MR. BASILIO:  It typically approves one year at a time, and the reasons being conditions can change, and I think that is why the board does that.  For the board to look forward into year two and give management full licence -- and management does have discretion.  I mean, our CEO has pretty wide discretion with respect to capital and operating.  That's, you know -- but they tend to approve one year.  I this I that is pretty typical, given that conditions can change.  But that's with a view on five years, as you see before you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why did your board of directors refuse to approve 2020 capital?

MR. BASILIO:  I think just as a matter of process.  They're in the habit of approving one year, and then they take the next four years for information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So even though you made a pitch to approve two years, they said no, we're not going to do it.  And they didn't give you any reason other than no, that's not how we normally do it?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  We would have had a discussion at the time, and it wouldn't have been a long discussion, frankly.  It would have been -- you know, a good reason to approve a two-year capital plan is because projects can span over a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BASILIO:  And they naturally leak into -- you know -- some naturally leak into the next year.  And so, you know, that's a reason for trying to get a two-year capital program, but I don't know -- Max, if you want to...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was just going to ask.  Do you have some more insight, Mr. Cananzi?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  There was some concerns over year-over-year degradation of plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is because your net income was going down, the board is saying hang on, let's not approve a big jump in 2020 just yet.  Let's see what happens.

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So do I take it from that -- and this is sort of where I was going, Mr. Cananzi.  Do I take it from that that your expectation is if this Board were to say no to the M-factor, that your board is not going to approve additional capital expenditures over and above the net that is in the plan?  Is that a fair expectation?

MR. BASILIO:  We would have to reprioritize and go back to the board.  I mean, that is a very material change in expectation, and so we would have to go back to the board.

But, you know, we'll have to see.  We'll have to wait and see what we, you know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Given they're concerned about declining profitability, that sounds like they're saying if you don't get funding from the OEB, we're not going to approve this additional capital.  Is that fair?

MR. BASILIO:  I think that will be a discussion with our board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know the answer?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, you know, it's not necessarily binary.  It could be within a range of zero to a hundred, but, you know, it's a difficult discussion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I am still on page 14 and when I get to the financial plan, it will actually go faster because we will have dealt with most things in the presentation.

MR. BASILIO:  Presentation page 14, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It talks about reduction of system renewal and service projects as a result of the ICM decision, and that's the 137 million.

I take it what you're saying is for planning purposes only, we're assuming we're not doing those projects.  But operationally, we still think we need them, so we're going to try to find a way.  Am I sort of right there?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I think that is the nature of this decision, or this application actually, is that this is capital we need.  We're going to apply for it here.  We're going to try to find, you know, a way to do that.

We're going to plan for it.  But if it doesn't happen, you know, then we're going to have to think about what we do next.

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Shepherd, I would add that, you know, what this indicates is that we don't have funding for those projects, so it makes it very difficult for us to move forward.  But also, as we have indicated and as we have shown as part of the evidence, is that there have been subdivisions that popped up that even though we were refused funding for some of those subdivisions, we moved ahead with some of those because we were not going to be leaving customers in the dark.

And so we do have issues, we have some serious issues to deal with it.  And it's not an easy answer to give you right here on the spot, but it does involve reprioritization.  And ultimately, we will have to deal with some issues as they emerge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Over the past, say, five years for Alectra and its predecessors, it's generally true that you've spent on capital more than the amount that's in base rates, if you use the ICM threshold as the test.  Is that generally fair?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So one other question on this page, and then I will actually move on.  The increase in integration capital, 30.5 million, what's that?

MR. CANANZI:  That was our integration costs relative to our original business plan assumptions.  We met with increased integration costs, particularly in IT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You seem to have -- and again, this is back to sort of the previous theme.  You seem to have gotten a bunch of things wrong in a big way.  I mean, 35.5 million dollars of change in integration in a budget that was only, what, 100 million or something?  That seems like a lot.

MR. BASILIO:  It is a lot.  But we've also been able to find additional synergies, and I think we have provided reporting, G-Staff-15, where our original and -- subject to check, I think our net synergies across the 10-year period in our business case was 424.5 million.  And our current forecast, I think, subject to check in G-Staff, is 420.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What that tells me is you got your costs to integrate wrong, but you also got your synergies wrong, and the net ended up being about the same.  But they were both wrong.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, they're wrong looking back, but they were estimates at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm not saying there is anything bad about this.  I'm saying the fact you're getting less ICM revenue is similar to a whole lot of other things in your planning, right?  You got it wrong.

MR. BASILIO:  We certainly didn't get what we thought we would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to go to page 16 to talk a little more about that 30.5 million.  The reason I want to ask about this is because these things you're talking about as transition expenditures look to me to be similar to things in your M-factor list.

So, for example, the voice radio system, is that the WiMax that we see in all of the various sections?  We see WiMax project in each of the areas, and WiMax is voice radio, right?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Shepherd, as we explained during the technical conference, the operational voice radio system, the initial part was the integration part.

We clarified in our response to undertaking from the technical conference that there's a minor, non-material amount that allows us to continue to buy additional antennas and additional radios to fill in some dead spots afterwards, after several years as the system expands.

So the initial investment was an integration.  But the part that is in the DSP are the small, little non-material, and I believe there is 125,000 over five years that allows us to buy additional radios and antennas to fill in some dead spots.

MR. CANANZI:  But, Mr. Shepherd, the WiMax also refers to our data network for operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. CANANZI:  Not voice, data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying if I add up those M-factor projects that say WiMax, they will be $125,000?

MR. WASIK:  No.  What I was saying is that the -- maybe it's easier if I just bring up the undertaking response, because there is a specific question asked of this particular question.

It is JT2.8, and it was specifically asked in terms of the DSP project: is this an integration project.  We said the portion that is in the DSP is the ongoing and it is only 125,000 over five years.  That's in base rates that allows us to buy additional antennas and additional radios, because you put in your integrated system and as your distribution system continues to expand, the crews will find some dead spots that need to be filled in.  That is the purpose of this particular investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't asking about that one.  I was asking about the multiple WiMax projects that in your M-factor list.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So as Mr. Cananzi just explained, the WiMax is for our data. This particular project is for our voice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the data --


MR. WASIK:  Separate projects, separate systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the data you didn't have to integrate?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.  The data is an evolution of our monitoring systems that we have across all of our infrastructure and it is part of our initiative, which we have identified that we're planning to slow down our investment in stations by putting additional monitoring devices.

But those monitoring devices need to have a data communication network to bring that information back.  That is why it is part of those particular projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that something that one of the merging companies was doing already and now you are rolling it out to the other ones?

MR. WASIK:  There was interest across the industry in using WiMax, so we're all investigating that.

But it is in part of a course of natural progression as the data networks evolve.  So, yes, they're all looking at some elements of evolving with data security and various different data networks.

And so it wasn't a project -- it's a project that is a normal course of business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I wasn't asking were you looking at it.  I was asking did one of the merging companies have this in place already, something like this, and after the merger you decided to roll it out to the other ones?

MR. CANANZI:  We are supporting -- to answer your question, WiMax was extensively used in the former legacy PowerStream service area, but we are supporting a number of different type of data networks throughout.

So it's not a matter of integrating everybody to WiMax.  It is a matter of expanding and continuing to use what we have to the best opportunities presented to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you -- where I am going with this, I am trying to understand how you distinguish between transition expenditures or integration expenditures and normal course of business stuff that the ratepayers have to pay for, as opposed to what you have to pay for.

And I am getting a sense that what you're saying is if one of the merging partners was doing something really good and we roll it out to everybody else, that is ratepayer cost.  This is not an integration cost.

If everybody was doing something different and we put them all in the same way, we do it all the same way, that's a transition cost.  Is that right?

MR. CANANZI:  No.  That's not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you explain what that difference is?  Because actually, I spent a lot of time reading your DSP, and I could not tell how you distinguish between transition costs and stuff the ratepayers pay for.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Shepherd, the way I would characterize it is that, if we would have done something in the absence of a merger then I think that that is ongoing operations.  But if it's triggered as a result of the merger, then it's an integration cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me give you an example.  PowerStream was using Copperleaf 55.  Nobody else -- none of the other merging entities were.

After the merger everybody is using Copperleaf 55.  If there was a cost to do that, that's a transition cost?  Is that right?

MR. CANANZI:  To expand it to everybody else, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Okay.  But if Enersource was already looking at changing out or changing out their capital planning system and looking at Copperleaf and after the merger they adopted Copperleaf, that would not be a transition cost?

MR. CANANZI:  Could you repeat that question again, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Before the merger Enersource was looking at a new method of prioritizing capital spending and was looking at Copperleaf, and after the merger they adopted Copperleaf and there were some costs associated with that.  That is not a transition cost, right?

MR. CANANZI:  So I believe I stated that if we were going to go to a common platform, that that would have been an integration cost.

I think that we've -- you know, as the time that we merged, that's sort of the moment that we would have looked at anything that brought everybody together on one platform would have been considered an integration cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why isn't the WiMax roll-out to all the other areas a transition cost?

MR. CANANZI:  It is not a transition cost simply on the basis that, you know, we have looked at a number of -- these are discrete systems, in the sense that they operate autonomously within their operating region.

As a matter of normal business operations we look at technologies that would best suit our application at any given time, and if we find something that is a lower cost we would adopt that.

And so those are autonomous decisions within the region.  So I think that, you know, the benefits of the WiMax network has been accepted and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not disagreeing.

MR. CANANZI:  No, no, I'm saying it has been accepted by all the regions, so as a sort of going forward we would purchase and install WiMax, but they're sort of incremental, discrete, autonomous to those regions.

We are -- it's not like we're going in and ripping out old communications.  We're still continuing to support the systems that we have in place.  We do --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're adding another layer?

MR. CANANZI:  We do have a -- no.  We work always with a number of technologies, because technologies change, but that doesn't mean that you throw out the old, necessarily.  You make everything work together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That -- I am just -- I don't actually care about the WiMax.  I think it was a great idea.  But I am using it as an example.

It is going to drive synergies, right?

MR. CANANZI:  No.  It is not.  It's just an expansion, a continued expansion of our operations technology.  As we continue to implement new devices we will connect that to a new network in that region.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not going to save money because of it?

MR. CANANZI:  You know, I don't know -- I turn it over to Mr. Wasik, who may have the business plan around the WiMax, whether there is some operational savings associated to that.  But from my understanding -- and I will turn it over to Tom, Mr. Wasik in a moment -- but from my understanding it was based on technical performance requirements.  But Mr. Wasik --


MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So, Mr. Shepherd, as Mr. Cananzi was explaining, one of our strategies that we've outlined in the DSP is to see what we can do with respect to focusing on the areas of need.

So as we talked about a lot, we need to focus on underground assets.  When we examined the current state of our stations we recognized that there is a different way we can manage it.  And so by putting more sensors and putting oil containment controls we can mitigate the risks.  By adding more ties and automation around the station we can minimize outages if the stations failed.

But that infrastructure, the additional monitoring, requires more bandwidth in terms of the networks, and we are also seeing that trend across everything, is that we're adding more sensors on things.

And the current data network that we use doesn't have the right security or the right bandwidth.  So as part of normal evolution this is why we're looking at WiMax.  So the savings, Mr. Shepherd, come from the fact that we can keep the station assets longer in-service than were typical.

We then transferred those particular savings into the underground cable.  But even after doing that it wasn't enough.  We needed to have some additional funding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So rather than a synergies benefit, it's a productivity benefit, and you are then using that productivity benefit to make your system better?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  That's the intent.  That's what we're always trying to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Got you.  All right.  You also talk about facilities renovations -- I am going to come back to CIS in a second.  But you talk about facilities renovations at three of your -- you have three head offices, right?

MR. CANANZI:  We have one corporate head office and we have two other -- we have a utilities head office and we have also another head office in Cityview, so, yes, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have seen these names in your
M-factor list, so you have a Cityview M-factor project.  You have a John Street M-factor project.  I think you have a Derry Road M-factor project as well.

So -- and I am not suggesting that you simply dumped the transition expenditures into your M-factor.  What I am asking is, how did you decide if you are renovating John Street, for example -- this is an old building, right?  You're renovating John Street.  Which is the transition expenditure and which the customers should pay for?  Because clearly you are asking the customers to pay for some of it, but you are also spending money on that building in transition expenditures, right?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.  And quite easily I go back to my former response, which is that if it was -- if those facilities expenses were treated as a result of the merger, then they're integration costs.

So in other words, if we had to prepare offices for employees moving to those facilities, then that would have been an integration cost.  If it's, you know, within that renovation time period, but, you know, on an ongoing basis there's basic requirements and needs of those facilities that would need to be replaced or need to be spent in any event whether you are merging or not, and that would be an operational expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The former Horizon had a facilities plan for John Street, right?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes, it did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, John Street is an old building, right?  It is quite an old building.

MR. CANANZI:  It was built in 1951, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a whole lot of things you had to do to bring it up to snuff, right?

MR. CANANZI:  Over the years, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So after the merger, if you do those same things, that's not a merger expense, right, because that's part of what you had to do anyway.  Is that fair?

MR. CANANZI:  Bringing the building up to code or -- we had to just -- yes, I would agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, the John Street project we talked about, the 400,000, is a new roof that has a roof-top patio, right?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you were going to have to put a new roof on anyway, right, so that is why it is not a transition expense.

MR. CANANZI:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Let me go to page 25 of the --


MR. BASILIO:  Presentation?

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- presentation.  So I looked at this change in your IT plan, your hardware/software plan from one year to the next where it doubles.

I have actually never seen that in a utility plan where it doubles from one year to the next.  And it appears that the primary reason -- the biggest impact, if you like -- is two projects that you didn't plan for and now you are planning for: the CIS and the ERP.  That's the primary reason these are different, right?

MR. CANANZI:  They're the largest contributors, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why did this happen?  Why -- these are in your DSP, right?

MR. CANANZI:  I'm sorry, yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're part of what we're paying for?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why did you suddenly have to spend another $22 million on these things that -- because these weren't in your merger business plan, right?  They weren't even in last year's business plan.

MR. CANANZI:  They would not be part of the merger business plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well you had a capital plan in your merger business plan.  You didn't think you were going to have to spend $22 million on CIS and ERP?

MR. CANANZI:  Our merger business plan was created in -- it was based on 2015 numbers and generated in 2016, and it had a five-year forward view of capital.

These expenditures are coming in in 2022, so that's outside of the window.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It actually had a capital view for -- or you presented to the board a capital view with 557 million of extra capital over the deferred rebasing period, right?

MR. CANANZI:  In a general -- that's correct, generally, and it was largely driven off of the distribution assets, which we can -- which we can have -- we have a very good, fairly good determination going out ten years and longer sometimes as to when things need to come into place.  We have a lot more rigor and a lot more systems in place for that.

Simply on the systems piece of it, it didn't incorporate it, the IT systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But your 2018 plan did and you didn't have these in it.  What suddenly happened that you suddenly have to spend this extra 22 million?  Because we're paying for it, right?

MR. CANANZI:  Well, specifically on the CIS system is that that is an upgrade, a software upgrade to continue to have it eligible for maintenance, or else the maintenance plan sort of -- you know, the vendor can't continue to support that system.

So that CIS system and what we implemented was the PowerStream billing system, which was the latest billing system of the merging utilities.  We used that as the platform.  That was a 2015 model and so we integrated to the 2015 model.

And now, you know, we anticipate that there is going to be -- you know, in discussions with the vendor, that there's going to be a need to upgrade that.  And it's a significant upgrade software-wise in 2022.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I guess what I am asking is you had a 2015 system.  You didn't know you were going to have to ever upgrade it?  It was not in your plan at all, right?  No upgrade for ten years.

MR. CANANZI:  Well, you know, in all systems, all complex major systems that we do have, we try to use them for the longest amount of time possible.  Nobody wants to go through a significant upgrade, you know, earlier than you need to.

So we try to maximize what we have and we try to stretch that.  And then, you know, I think after so many years, the vendors usually provide notice that that version of that software will no longer be supported and if we wish to continue to have support, we're going to have to upgrade to a newer version.

So that plays into the fact of when the systems get upgraded.

To add to the complexity, though, is that we brought four fairly large size utilities together, and the objective for the integration effort was to get everybody to a platform.

I think getting everybody to a platform, changing all of the business processes, rearranging all of that stuff, and in addition to that contemplating an upgrade to the system, I think posed significant amount of risks, complexity and additional costs that -- you know, I think the proper plan is the one that we approached, which is a two-step process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not disagreeing with you at all and I sympathize with you.

You must have -- I mean, your IT department came to you between 2018 and 2019 and said by the way, we want to double our budget.  You must have been a little shocked?

MR. CANANZI:  Well, we spent a lot of time on that request and vetting through all of those projects and so on and so forth, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The effect of this, though, is that there's another 30 million -- by the way, is there an increase, like a high amount in 2023 and 2024 as well in IT spending?

MR. WASIK:  No.  In 2023, as we provided on page 2 of appendix A18 of the DSP, there's a reduction and a further reduction in 2024 in terms of information technology system investments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Reductions from 2022, which is your high year.  But there's still going to be like, you know, $15 million a year, right?

MR. WASIK:  It is 12.3 million in 2023, and 8.4 million in 2024.

MR. CANANZI:  There is also a 2-million-dollar reduction in 2023.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I am asking this is because this is all in base rates, right?  None of this is in your -- or very little of it, let's say, is in your
M-factor list, right?

MR. WASIK:  There are some projects in the M-factor list, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  But of this -- what is it over five years? -- about $60 million.  Of that $60 million, there's only a few million dollars in your M-factor list, right?  The rest of it is in base budget.

MR. WASIK:  One moment, Mr. Shepherd.  So in the M-factor projects, we do have the CC&B upgrade; that's 13.3 million.  The workform management system is 4.7 million.  And the few other IT projects that generally add up to about $25 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But whether it is in the
M-factor or in base rates, we're still paying for it, right?  Under your proposal, we still pay for it either way?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then my last thing on this -- or, like I say, I have two more things on this document.

Mr. Chairman, do you have a particular time you would like to break?  Sometime between eleven and 11:15?

DR. ELSAYED:  If you are going to go to a new area maybe it is probably not a bad time to take a break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have about five minutes left on this document.

DR. ELSAYED:  Why don't you finish that, and then we will take the break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Go to page 26 of that same document, K2.4.  And most of this stuff we have already talked about at considerable length.

The only two things I want to ask about is the line that says "higher consumption and demand" and the line that says "higher distribution rates", and these are both favourable variances to your previous plan, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's an additional $19.3 million in additional revenue, right?  These are revenue numbers?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And your previous plan would have been consistent with your expectations under PCI, right?  Your revenue numbers?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  With the exception of the Horizon rate zone that was still on custom IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Thank you.

Then my last question on this is on page 30, and there's probably a simple explanation for this, but I guess this is an OM&A thing now, right?  This is a table of OM&A variances.

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yet the first two lines are CIS and CIS.  I don't know how much of those two lines is CIS, but it is 17 million in total over just four years.  I am wondering, is this in addition to the capital CIS stuff that we saw?

MR. CANANZI:  On an OM&A basis, there are consulting costs for the CIS system to continue to support, you know, so there's a database support, maintenance, all of those things.  And the consulting dollars with regards to that are expensed, as opposed to capitalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is sort of -- because this is a variance to the previous year's plan.  Right?  This is a $17 million unfavourable variance to the previous plan.

MR. CANANZI:  This is plan-over-plan analysis, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So I am wondering, is this related to the capital program, the CIS capital plan that is coming up in 2022?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  So this is a -- this would be in addition to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when it says here "enterprise system, CIS system assessments", that's nothing to do with your upgrade?

MR. CANANZI:  No.  The upgrade is simply going to a newer version of the software.  What we're contemplating here is enhancements to the existing CIS that drive productivity efforts down the road.  So we have productivity projects embedded within the plan, the five-year plan, to seek additional benefits in terms of lowering costs and smoothing out processes and efficiencies generally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why would you -- if you are going to upgrade in 2022 why don't you just include your additional functionality in 2022?

MR. CANANZI:  Well, the two are completely independent, right?  So, I mean, the planning and the design part of it starts now, in terms of being able to establish and figuring out what we want to do into the system, and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2022?

MR. CANANZI:  Starting now, and actually, the planning phase of that started in mid-year of 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  But, sorry, again, I am not making myself clear, I apologize.

When I've been involved in big projects like this you have this lengthy period where -- sometimes two, three years, where you have consultants who are giving you -- who are assessing your system, figuring out what new functionality you should do, doing a road map, which we see on the next line, so that you can then say, okay, when we get to that point where we upgrade, this is what we want it to look like.  Isn't that right?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.  That's correct.  I mean, this is the operating part of it, where we're doing the planning and the designing and all of that.

We do have capital additions in addition to the CC&B upgrades that are in the plan as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  But they're much smaller.

MR. CANANZI:  They're $10 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  Mr. Chairman, this is probably a good time to break.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We will resume at 11:20.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, please continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just for time-check purposes, in deference to Board Staff's record-setting compendium, I will be finished by lunch time.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have two quick questions on K2.4 that I forgot -- how I did, I don't know.  And the first is at page 15 of that presentation.  Do you have that?  I think this is probably for you, Mr. Basilio, or it might be for Mr. Wasik, I don't know.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you see the line capital synergies?

MR. BASILIO:  In which -- the capital synergies line is in all three components of the table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  So the first one.

MR. BASILIO:  Under 2019 financial plan synergies?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Capital synergies line, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I get for 20-24 -- 2024 isn't here, but you can sort of see the trajectory -- I get about $65 million of capital synergies.

My question is how is that reflected in your DSP?  So these are -- you have lower capital costs because of the transition, but you get to keep that, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  These are synergies available to -- yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's lower capital costs?

MR. BASILIO:  They're capital synergies, yeah, they are lower capital costs, correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that reflected in your DSP?

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Shepherd, to the extent that those capital synergies represent avoided capital costs, like for instance as part of the merger business plan, when we took a look at a five-year window or going out, there would be requirements for, for instance in Horizon's legacy system, we would be in need of a billing system in 2020.  So those are foregone, those are -- we classify those as capital synergies, in the sense that, you know, the amount is not spent.

So in other words, it is not reflected in the DSP.  They're avoided capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I should have made myself clearer.

Either your DSP says what you actually expect to spend on capital, in which case you're giving back the capital synergies to the customer, because you are not asking us to pay for them -- which I am guessing you're not doing -- or the DSP is an amount of capital that is $65 million more than you actually expect to spend.  Which is it?

MR. BASILIO:  We can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You can only do one or the other.

MR. BASILIO:  We actually expect to spend the capital that is in the DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are giving all of the capital synergies back to customers?  You are not taking any of them as merger benefits?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  I think what you are probably saying is correct.  I mean, you know, just again the nature of most of that capital is avoided capital.  And maybe just by way of example, if it's helpful, previously there were four ERP systems for which, you know, at some point you would have budgeted an upgrade for the four of them separately, and now you don't have to do that.  So it's not necessarily a reduction of cost.  It is just an avoided future cost.

In these cases, it is avoided future costs that would have been incurred in those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the merger business plan didn't say you were going to give the ratepayers $127.9 million of savings arising out of the merger, did it?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what changed?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I think in fact how we've laid out the merger business case is the same as reporting the synergies here.  Regrettably, I have to think about that for a minute.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will come back to that.  I caught you by surprise.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  Please proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am shocked, because that's a lot of money for you to just give back and not say anything about.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, yeah, of course amounts in 2018 and 2019 would have occurred in those years, so really it is the forward-looking if that's your...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, all right.  So my other question on this is on page 23, and I noted that you're expecting to reduce your repairs and maintenance expenses by $4.2 million.  And my only question is:  Is that because of increased capital spending?

MR. BASILIO:  It's not clear on this slide, but that's across the financial plan period.  I don't know if you recognized that or not.  So it is like a million a year, or something like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is sort of a rounding error.  In the size of your budget, it's not much.

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I just have a few -- I want to follow up.  This is not in this material.  It is a follow up to our discussion earlier about the 21.8 million versus the 60.9 million, which was the topic of much discussion during the break.

And I want to be clear and ask you whether you can confirm, it's not -- this is not actually about 60.9 million, right, because it is only how much the ratepayers pay over five years.

You're actually asking this Board to order that the ratepayers pay an incremental $265 million eventually, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, because it is relatively expensive money, like 8 percent a year or so, the result is we're actually paying a lot more than $265 million.  If we actually calculate it out, you're like you're going to -- if you get the M-factor, you will eventually get a billion dollars, maybe, from the ratepayers?

MR. BASILIO:  No, I don't think we're going to get that much.  But I would agree that, you know, and that's probably a similarity with ICM that you are imputing the cost of capital on top, which I think is what you are referring to for the most part, plus debt repayment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The schools can borrow for 3.5 percent, but if they wanted to give you their share of this right now and borrow it themselves, you wouldn't let them, right? You would rather get the 8 percent, because that is how you get your money, right?  That is how you get a profit.

MR. BASILIO:  That's the way ratemaking works presently, yeah.  It is off of invested capital and working capital, the two components of rate base, right, fixed assets and working capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Lyle, did you go and talk to some large customers, like GS over 50 and large use customers, as part of your investigations?

MR. LYLE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you talk to any school boards?

MR. LYLE:  We -- the way the process worked is that we sent emails out to every one of those customers that had an email, and in the report we document what the email coverage is by rate zone.

Then they responded.  All their responses are anonymous, so I don't know whether an individual response is from a school board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask this is because -- and let me ask a different question.  Have the executives of or staff of Alectra gone out and talked to large customers like school boards and said, this is what we're planning to do, and you know, this is what the impact on you is going to be, that sort of thing?

The school boards tell me they talk to you all the time about where rates are going.  Is that right?

MR. CANANZI:  We have discussions with a number of large customers throughout the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the reason I ask that is because when I go talk to the schools, they say, well, yeah, this Alectra thing, it's only a tiny rate increase, it really has no impact.

So I say to them, well, you guys pay about 1.5 percent of utility revenues.  So this is $4 million of capital.  And they're surprised, because you've never told them that, have you?

You've never told them that this is how much extra we're going to get from you, if this is approved, $4 million for the school boards.  And in fact -- just let me finish the question -- that's on top of your regular budget.  You are actually planning to get from them -- if this Board approves this application as filed -- $20 million.

MR. BASILIO:  I will take this at a really high level, and it is not going to directly answer your question, but I am going to come back to a point I've made a couple of times, and that is, through the MAADs process, where intervenors are representing their customers and the Board's ultimately making a decision, we were very transparent on the quantum of ICM capital that we would likely be seeking across the ten-year period about 500-and-some-odd-million dollars, and $160 million of ICM revenue.

So, I mean, I don't know how intervenors communicate back to their customers on these issues, so I don't know if there was some communication.  Perhaps there's -- certainly we do communicate with our customers, but we have been very transparent on this.

So again, as far as an expectations change, nothing's really changed in terms of the economics, you know, the economic picture that we painted when we delivered the MAADs application and received approval.

Of course, that capital was not approved.  You know, there are risks associated with that.  And obviously we knew at the time we would be coming back to the Board for subsequent approvals with far more detailed evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have about a million customers, right?

MR. BASILIO:  1.1, yes.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that -- am I in the ballpark that if this application is approved the average residential customer will be on the hook for about a thousand dollars of capital in this capital plan?  Roughly.

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, you just have to divide the two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can't quite divide, because the bigger customers pay a bigger share, but I am in the ballpark, right?  A thousand dollars per residential customers?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, when you -- go ahead, go ahead, Natalie.  When you consider the M-factor capital, which is really the -- if you're talking about the entire DSP?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Which was 1.4 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  1.4 --


MR. BASILIO:  -- billion across the five-year period divided by 1.1 million customers, if that's -- if that's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. BASILIO:  -- more or less what you are looking at, then over the life of the assets, you know, whatever that is on average, 40 to 60 years, yes, that's what we would be seeking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, actually, over the life of the assets, when you take into account that they're paying 8 percent on the thousand dollars, it's going to be a lot more than that, it's going to be 2,000 or 3,000 or 4,000.  It's going to be a lot of money.

But that's not my question.  My question is a different one.

MR. BASILIO:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is, Mr. Lyle, when you went to the customers, did any of them have any idea that they were talking about having to pay over time a thousand bucks?

MR. LYLE:  All of our references here were focused on the amount you pay each month and what the amount that they could expect it to be increased based on the rates established in the MAADs, which would cover a fair chunk of that capital expense.  And then they were shown the incremental cost over, by year, any incremental cost by the end of the rate period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they weren't actually shown the incremental cost, right, because as you said yesterday, they were showed how much more their bill would be in year five.

MR. LYLE:  Right.  So that is the incremental impact on their bill by each year and by the end of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. LYLE:  Or by the end of the term.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now I'm going to the financial plan.  This is K2.5.  And I am going to start with what is probably a stupid question, but I will explain why I am asking it in a second.

Why are some pages numbered and others not numbered?

MR. BASILIO:  That's a great question, and I will be asking my staff the same question as we put it together for this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I said I would tell you why I asked the question.  A long time ago when I used to do corporate deals I had a situation where it was a big document and some pages were numbered and some pages were not.  And what we found out was that somebody had taken out the original pages and put in new pages.

Now, I am not suggesting for a second that you did that, and I am not alleging anything untoward.  What I am saying is, I have to ask the question because of that experience.  You didn't do anything like that, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This is just something accidental?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a production thing?

MR. BASILIO:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Now, the other reason I mentioned that is because if the Board Panel -- some of this may be a little bit difficult.  I hope your pages have been numbered now, but if they haven't been, well, I will do my best.

DR. ELSAYED:  Not all of them.  That's okay.  We can find them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Pages 13 to 66 are not numbered.  So I am looking at page 14, which for those following at home is the page after page 13 that is not numbered.  Do you have that?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this says that in your financial plan you've assumed inflation of 2.5 percent in 2020 and 2.1 percent in '21, '2 and '3.  And, now, that is not for revenues, right, that is just for spending, right?  Your revenues, you have assumed 1.3 percent.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We were assuming that this was the inflation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The inflation rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's what we were assuming it was for those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you weren't assuming that that was the inflation factor that would apply to your revenues?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The first line indicates that we've assumed 1.6 percent for our revenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually 1.3, right, because if you look at the second-last line --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  Minus the stretch.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm saying the 2.5 and the 2.1, those are cost inflation numbers, right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  Because the statement reads "the financial plan assumes".

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, no, no.  The financial plan has revenues as well.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm saying the revenues are at one inflation rate, the expenses are in a different rate, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The inflation assumptions affect, obviously, your ICM thresholds, right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they affect your customer impacts?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they affect your DSP spending forecasts?  Yes?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Well, the DSP spending -- the DSP and related spending forecast I guess is one function.  And the customer impact related to the model is separate and apart.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Sorry.  I am not asking the DSP in the context of what rates kick out of it.  I am asking, when you're forecasting that you are going to spend money on capital, you have to assume that costs will go up by some inflationary amount.  It is normal practice.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The assumptions you've made are 2.5 percent in 2020 and 2.1 percent in 2021 in your DSP, right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it is also true that that would then affect your M-factor revenue requirement, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And would you accept subject to check that if you used the inflation rates in your financial plan -- sorry, no, if you used in your financial plan the same inflation rate that you used for your distribution revenues, the PCI inflation rate, that the difference, the amount of money you would need because the amount of capital you spend is about $50 million less?

Would you accept I am in the ballpark at least?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. YEATES:  Mr. Shepherd, any -- there are two key inputs in the materiality threshold calculation that will result in changes to the threshold value.

Those two key inputs are the inflation factor and also the growth assumptions.  So any increase in the inflation factor that's used and inflation rate that is used will increase the threshold value and your reduction will decrease the threshold value.

With respect to growth as well, depending on your growth assumption, if you have a higher growth assumption in the calculation, that will result also in a higher threshold value, and correspondingly, if a particular rate zone has lower growth, it will also result in a reduction in the threshold, so yes.

The inflation and growth inputs result in fluctuations or changes to the threshold value, depending on what is used.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're ships passing in the night here.

MS. YEATES:  Are we?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. YEATES:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am asking is, if you used 1.3 percent, for example, in your DSP as your inflation assumption, you would spend $50 million less.  Isn't that right, roughly?

Forget the threshold.  Just is it $1.456 billion or is it 1.45 - $1.405 billion?

MS. YEATES:  Are you referring to the inflation as it is used in the calculation of the threshold?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, I wasn't asking --


MS. YEATES:  Or are you referring to actual capital expenditures?

MR. SHEPHERD:   I am not asking about the threshold at all.  I was asking about capital expenditures they would be roughly by roughly the inflationary difference if you apply it on a sequential basis, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Year over year capex, if the inflation rate turns out to be lower than the assumption, the subsequent years -- assuming the current year capex is ground zero -- it will be lower if the assumption is lower, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. BASILIO:  I would agree to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask this is because when you have two different inflation assumptions for your revenue side and your expense side, that's going to over-state the expenses relative to the revenue, isn't it?

Like you would never do that in a financial plan, would you?  In a normal financial plan, you would never assume inflation differed on them both, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it depends.  You mean outside of a regulated context?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Your revenue would be based on what you think you can extract for the sale of your goods, and the inflation on your cost base would be based on some sort of statistical analysis from Stats Canada or, you know, another source.  So the two could be quite different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying this is very similar?  Your inflation assumption on revenue is what you think you can get in rates. And your inflation assumption on expenses is what you think the cost pressures are going to be.

MR. BASILIO:  What we think the cost pressures are going to be, that's right.

And I mean ultimately, what the Board uses for -- you know, price cap adjustments includes productivity factor, it is based on a certain, you know, somewhat standardized inflation rate you know.  We've got wage inflation.  We've got -- I mean we have experienced the two to be different in the past.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What that means then, isn't it, is that the amount that's included in your base rates -- sorry, you're assuming that your costs will actually increase more than your revenues in base rates.

Forget whether you have additional capital needs.  That is a separate issue.  But just on a status quo basis, you're assuming your costs are going to increase at a faster rate than your revenues, structurally.

MR. BASILIO:  Generally speaking, in this case, yes, that's what we're assuming.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And isn't the IRM structure supposed to expect you to cover that difference?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  But the -- yes.  But what you've been putting to us is -- what we're saying is it has been our experience that the two aren't necessarily in sync.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can we go to the next page, please, page 15?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Confirming that the top of the page is "the LDC is also permitted"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  The next page should be, "However, in the decision..."


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Oh, sorry.  I flipped the page as opposed to looking to the top of the next.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're asking for $60.9 million over the next five years in incremental rate revenue, right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In this table 4, your incremental relief each year is $3.6 million a year, right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you told your board of directors that you were only going to get half of that, right?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.  The assumption that we used with respect to incremental ICM revenue is a 50 percent recovery assumption.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is $1.8 million a year, right?

MS. YEATES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so using the handy-dandy rule of 78, I come up with $27 million is what you were telling your board you were going to get in ICM revenue in this business plan, right, not 60.9?  Five years at 1.8.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Mr. Shepherd, if we roll back to the presentation, that table certainly -- that table is focussed on the annual.  If we roll back to the presentation -- and I am just trying to remember what slide it was.  What we told them is that ICM revenue across -- I am looking at slide 26 of the presentation, which is Exhibit K2.4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  You can see that as you roll across that lower ICM revenue, it aggregates across a 4-year period, $32 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Number one, this includes 2019.  Number two, this is a plan over plan.

MR. BASILIO:  But it excludes...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is it in any way comparable to the 60.9 million?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, this is essentially -- you are trying to suggest what the board saw is that we're only going to get $21 million of ICM revenue over the five-year period.  But, no, that is not of not what we told them.

What we told them is we're going to get 62 -- is that we're going to file for 62.  We're going to get cut in half.  That's not exactly right, because some of this includes Enersource, I am rounding here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's for 2018 or 2019.

MR. BASILIO:  It is only four years worth, sir.  If you are going to cut out 2019, then you have to add in 2023 and 2024.  So...

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually not that complicated.  Go back to page 15.  3.6 million is what you're going to ask for for five years, right?  That's $54 million and you are going to get 27.  That's what you told your board.  It's 3.6 times 15.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Shepherd, I believe Mr. Basilio covered this with you, that this was about the expectations based on this being the plan at December 2018 and based on our experience to date at that time, and that's what we told our board.

It's not that we told our board that this is what we need and -- or what we would be seeking.  It's based on the 50 percent recovery assumption that we had experienced to date at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not implying any nefarious intent, Ms. Butany.

It was a simple question.  You told your board we're going to ask for $54 million over the next five years and we're going to get 27.  That's what we're planning on.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  We told our Board that based on past experience, we're going to apply for one amount and our experience has been that we're likely only to get 50 percent of that, and that was our view at December 2018.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that one amount was 54 and therefore, you were expecting to get 27.  Except you didn't have 24 --


MR. BASILIO:  So by way of comparison, just to make sure we're on the same page here, earlier we talked about looking over across the five years for 60.8 in this application.

If 50 percent was approved the corresponding amount would be 30.4.  If we were doing this today under the same assumptions, what the Board would have seen net would have been 30.4, the gross would have been 60.8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That makes it very clear.

MR. BASILIO:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now can we go to page 21, which is the one that has Table 9 at the bottom.  You see Table 9?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We have it.

MR. BASILIO:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So are any of these -- if you go up to where the heading is "Innovation Centre", and you see there is a discussion of projects there.  Some of those projects are in your DSP, right?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are all of them in your DSP?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  Some are in the base rates and some are in the M-factor application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they're all in the DSP?

MR. CANANZI:  Are they all in the DSP?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  Sorry, to answer your question, not all of them are in the DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, microgrid as a service, which sounds like a competitive offering, is that in the DSP?  If I go look in the DSP will I find that somewhere?

MS. SATHE:  That's correct, it is not in the DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Advantage Planet, which is also competitive, is that also in the DSP?

MS. SATHE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Blockchain, which would help your competitive businesses, is in the DSP, right?

MS. SATHE:  The Blockchain project is in the DSP.

MR. CANANZI:  And, sorry, just to correct that statement, though, we don't view that pilot project as helping any commercial interests other than to understand from a utility perspective what would be asked for if transactive energy were to come into play.  We hold a view that there could be a potential role for the utility, and the utility must understand, and certainly from a settlement standpoint what that would entail from a utility perspective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it helps your competitive business, well, that's fine too?

MR. CANANZI:  The information and the work associated with that is related to the impact to the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, residential energy storage solutions, now, you're on the public record, I think, I'm pretty sure, as saying that Alectra would like to get into residential energy storage, right, as a business?

MR. CANANZI:  I don't recall us making that statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't think that --


MR. CANANZI:  I am just saying I don't recall making that statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't say that you made it.  I think it was actually Ms. Butany who said, this is a business we want to get into.  Am I wrong?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  Considering a number of people in this room were at the same OEB consultation, I believe what I said on behalf of Alectra Utilities was that the utilities would like to have the opportunity -- the utility would like to have the opportunity to participate in distributed energy resources, not limited to residential.  Certainly at a residential and commercial level.  But that that's not an area that we can fully explore as yet because that's not part of our regulatory regime, but of course as you know, that was exactly the discussion or framework discussion that we were having.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the question is, why would the ratepayers be paying for you to do work on that now?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think -- I will turn to Ms. Sathe to explore this more fully with you, but I believe the context in which we have been talking about it is a small pilot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whether it is a dollar or it's a million dollars, why are we paying for it?  Why aren't you paying for it out of your own money if you are going to make money over and above rate-of-return on this?

MS. SATHE:  The pilots that we have in the M-factor, or DSP for that matter, is that those are really to get a good handle and understanding of how, as a utility, we need to gear up and build capabilities, build expertise, to integrate those distributed energy resources when the customers make the choice to bring that in.

What regulatory regime will that flourish under, what -- whether the customer pays for it or the utility has ownership, those are all irrespective of how this new energy solution lands.

It is our responsibility to ensure that we are there to support the customer with their choices and we are there to ensure that the grid remains reliable and safe in that future environment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On that same page you have $8.8 million of unfavourable variance associated with the GRE&T Centre?.  Now, the GRE&T -- this is all OM&A, right, so we're not paying for that.

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  This is OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there capital expenses associated with the GRE&T Centre?  And if so, are they in the DSP?

MS. SATHE:  Only the capital expenditure related to the pilots that are in the DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Thank you.

The next page, which is page 22, despite its shyness in not showing that, has Table 10, which is the depreciation summary, and we talked about how this big jump in depreciation is hurting your financial statements, right?  I think it was $36 million over five years.  Right?  There it is right there, actually.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  It is a change in expectation from the prior year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you calculate this using continuity schedules, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can we have those, please, the 2018 one and the 2019 one?  I just want to see what the causes are of this change, because that is going to tell us a whole lot about your capital plan.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the causes are summarized here by category.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, so can we have the backup continuity plans?  You have them.  Just file them.  They're not secret.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I am trying to understand what the purpose of it is.  If the summary of the depreciation expenditures and the causes are fully outlined here, what does the continuity --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if they were fully outlined then the continuity wouldn't add anything, but of course the continuity is a lot more detailed, so it does add something.

MR. KEIZER:  And is there some particular aspect to the continuity that you feel is not revealed in this schedule?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, all of the details of how the depreciation suddenly went up by more than 5 percent will be in that detailed breakdown, and we'll be -- and the reason why that is valuable is because this is the capital you're asking for funding for.

MR. KEIZER:  Wouldn't you be able to put that question to the witness now, rather than getting the continuity tables --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you just give them to us?  It's not like they're not relevant.  Of course they're relevant.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I am struggling to see why they're relevant.

MR. BASILIO:  And it's a different plan period.  I mean, you know...

MR. SHEPHERD:  It over-lapsed by four years.

MR. BASILIO:  But it is not identical in each year.  And there are different drivers as well.

As I mentioned earlier, some of this was simply refinement of calculation, meaning that, you know, there was some -- you know, rounding and things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is exactly why the details matter.

MR. BASILIO:  We have summarized at a high level, though.  I mean, bringing this together is like bringing together -- personally, I haven't seen the detailed continuities.  It is at a huge level of detail.  It is five companies coming together.  There are actually five continuity schedules or -- I just don't see how this is valuable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean, we see the continuity schedules when you file with the Board, so we know what they look like.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, but we're not rebasing here.  So ultimately I don't quite understand what the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. KEIZER:  -- continuity schedule implies, when this implies over total capital, so I am -- and also the fact that as the witness has indicated it is for a different time period, so that's why I'm struggling.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, obviously I am in your hands.  This is -- we didn't realize that this big depreciation change had happened until we saw the financial plan.

And it is instructive about how their capital priorities are changing.  It is instructive about why the DSP is different from what they previously forecast.  And it will tell us a lot about the IT change, which, as you saw from my previous discussion, concerns us quite a bunch.  And so --


MR. BASILIO:  But that's in the capital schedule.  We --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I'm -- I'm --


MR. BASILIO:  -- have provided you with the capital plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me.  I am making a submission.  And therefore, it is our submission that it is appropriate for this to be -- especially since they have it anyway.  It is available.

DR. ELSAYED:  That was my question.  They are available?  You done have to do any work to produce those?


MR. BASILIO:  I don't know what work I would have to do to bring them together in a form that might be useful.  Again, this was done based on bringing together, under completely different ERP systems, four different fixed asset continuities.


So I don't know if Mr. Shepherd is then going to have to go back to five different continuities, what level of detail they're in.


What I would offer is that we have provided -- we provided a very comprehensive DSP that outlines specifically why capital is required.


Depreciation is simply a charge on that capital.  It's a function.  I don't know how it informs the capital.


It's essentially a formulaic outcome of spending on the capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have any further reply.  I have made my submissions.


MR. BASILIO:  It's just, you know, as the CFO, I don't see the relevance.  It wouldn't be relevant to me.


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  That's a matter of debate, though.  Mr. Shepherd, can you just explain briefly how we would use this information?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  When I look at a custom IR application or a rebasing application -- which in some respects, this is similar because the M-factor is funding the whole DSP -- one of the things I look at is the depreciation continuity over the period because that tells me what is coming out of their operating statement and what is going in in capital additions; capital additions and capex are not the same.


It tells me what the recognition and it tells me what the change in emphasis is.


So we know already there's some change in emphasis from distribution expenses to IT, because the IT is doubled.  But we don't know the details of that.


So I think that's probably not hardware; I think it is probably all software.  But we will be able to tell, if we look at this.


And since it is not secret and it is normal information that they would provide in a similar situation, like custom IR or rebasing, it seems to me that it's logical for them to provide it here.


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, if I may?  The reasons that Mr. Shepherd has put forward as to why he needs it is the very reason why it is irrelevant.


He has indicated that he needs it for the basis that this is comparable to a custom IR or rebasing, and it's not.


We have an IRM portion which effectively, you know, which the rates are set on the basis of IRM and what's covered in base rates, which are established on the Board's IRM process, I minus X, and there is no rebasing that forms part of that.


We're not required to rebase until the return after the deferred rebasing period.  And ultimately, to the extent that this matter is before the Board, it is related to incremental capital, not the totality of capital and not the evaluation of what is going in and out of rate base or the variation associated with it.


As the witness has indicated, the depreciation is a variation, or is a charge in relation to capital occurred with respect to the total expenditure, true.


But what is before the Board is not the totality of what's going in and out of rate base.  The issue here is what's occurring with respect to the incremental capital and, at the same time, considering the total need of the DSP, notwithstanding the M-factor.


But it's not a rate base re-evaluation or a rebasing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could just add one thing. This is actually not a case about $265 million. It is a case about funding a DSP of $1.46 billion, and so it is legitimate for the Board and the parties to look at that whole $1.456 billion and see is this sensible.  Because if there's something in base rates that is not sensible, then the 265 goes down.  It is just math.


So it seems to me that by portraying it as about $265 million is just wrong.


MR. KEIZER:  But that has nothing to do with rate base additions.  You can look at the totality of the plan and make an assessment as to whether it was proper planning behaviour, proper assumptions, attributes, or the nature of why you choose to make a capital expenditure.


And you can evaluate that within the context of the capital evidence that is here today, with the capital witnesses that sit on the panel.


It's not about going through and making a determination based on as if this was a rebasing and assessing what should or shouldn't be in rate base, because it's not a rebasing.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I suggest that the panel will discuss it during the break, and we will determine what the action will be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The next page, page 23, which is the page that has table 11 on it -- but I am not going to table 11 -- refers to a fair market value bump on the purchase of Hydro One Brampton.


There is a fair market value bump for tax purposes, right, because you bought the assets?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it a lot of money?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is this a similar situation?  I know the technical reason isn't the same, but the impact is the same as Hydro One's contested phantom taxes, right?  You're going to claim in rates, eventually when rates are set based on cost, you are going to claim in rates an amount of taxes that is higher than you're actually going to pay.  Is that right?  Just like Hydro One.


MR. BASILIO:  I don't know that -- I can't speak to Hydro One's circumstances. I will explain this, I think very simply, is that shareholders paid to acquire Hydro One Brampton.


There was a premium above rate base of -- I'm going to say roughly 200 million, and I can't remember the associated amount of that that would effectively be goodwill for tax purposes.


So shareholders made an outlay of a premium of $200 million, which is pre-tax.  There's a tax benefit associated with the amortization of that that should properly go back to shareholders.  Since they paid the gross amount, they should get the tax benefit on that premium.  We would not be proposing in 2027 to rebase that.


I don't know if that's akin to the Hydro One position or not, but that would be our position on that, that it's a shareholder cost.  It's an acquisition cost.  The premium can't be recovered in rates.  So, you know, the associated tax deduction related to the premium is not a component of rates as well -- at least that would be our position.


So I don't know if that's the same or not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The tax reduction because of the fair market value bump is going to be $100 million, roughly?


MR. BASILIO:  No, it is nowhere near that.  It would be, at the most, Mr. Shepherd -- and I would have to go look back if -- and over a period of time of course, right, a very long period -- I think the deduction rate is 5 percent a year now on the premium.


But let's say the premium -- subject to check, if the premium was fully tax deductible of 200 million, and you applied 26 an a half percent to that, so it would be roughly 52 million, something like that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you are treating that as basically one of your merger benefits, right?


MR. BASILIO:  Exactly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Then my next question is
-- and I have two more areas to deal with.  This one might take a few minutes, but the other one will not take as much.  This is page 28, which is table 17.


MR. BASILIO:  We have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a calculation of your regulated rate base, right?


MS. YEATES:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you filed a calculation of regulated rate base in -- I am trying to remember what the reference was.  It in response to an undertaking, I think, right?


MS. YEATES:  Yes, we filed a response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that response didn't increase the working capital allowance, as this one does.  So the result was that it understated the increase in rate base, correct?


MS. YEATES:  Mr. Shepherd, in response to that undertaking, we were asked to identify the impact on rate base solely as a result of the M-factor capital.


So what we did in response to the undertaking was we isolated, as we said in the response, the impact solely of the DSP -- sorry, the impact of the DSP on rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I'm not saying you did anything wrong.


MS. YEATES:  Okay.  I am just clarifying.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was asked, you answered it exactly as asked. But your actual forecast of how rate base is going to increase is here, right?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Sort of.  So it is a very simple forecast, meaning that in each year -- we don't undertake lead-lag studies in the normal course.  So this would have been simply using -- and I know Natalie or Indy will correct me -- the 1066 working capital allowance would effectively be a derivation from previously-approved allowances in prior applications.

The only variables would be growth, estimated growth, and cost of power, and operating expenses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's why I asked about this, because this increase from 2017, your first merger year, to -- and by the way, these 2017 figures, they include Guelph, right?  You back-cast them to include Guelph?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  It doesn't include Guelph.  It doesn't include Guelph, because the Guelph -- I think I mentioned this yesterday -- because the Guelph transaction was approved sort of late in this process, it was only added in on a top line basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So Guelph isn't in any of these numbers, so it is still apples to apples?

MR. BASILIO:  With Alectra prior to Guelph.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  So will you then accept subject to check that from 2017 to 2023 you're forecasting a compound annual growth rate in total rate base of 4.6 percent per year?  It is 30.85 over six years.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And will you also accept subject to check that that means rate base in 2027, if it continues to increase at the same pace, of $4.3 billion?

MR. BASILIO:  I'm just going to write down the numbers here.  Your latter number, Jay -- or Mr. Shepherd, by 2027, was?

MR. SHEPHERD:  2027 at that same 4.6 rate would be $4.282 billion.

MR. BASILIO:  Okay.  Sorry, could you just give me one more time the CAGR that you calculated?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, 4.6.

MR. BASILIO:  4.6 from '17 to '23?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, 30.85 over six years.

MR. BASILIO:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So here's why I'm asking this, because this capital plan is -- you're expecting to continue to ask for more money for capital at a similar pace until 2026, right?  In fact, until 2027.

You said until at least 2030 you are going to have to spend more than past, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Just give me a moment, Mr. Shepherd.

Well, I think we -- we will have do evaluate, but I think we expect to be back...

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  If we use the, what is our snowplow chart as the example, the plateau happens in and about 2030.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then what I'm going to ask you to do is I'm going to ask you to forecast the total amount of rate base based on your capital plan in 2027.  And the reason I am asking this is because, as you know, our view is you're spending our ratepayer benefit now, and the math I do says it's going to be another rate increase in 2027.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't understand how you come to the conclusion that we're spending our ratepayers' benefit now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you're adding 4.6 percent to rate base each year, and rate base is about roughly two-thirds of your revenue requirement, that means in 2027 we're not going to get a rate reduction, are we?  We're going to get just another rate increase.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, remember, Mr. Shepherd, the premise of the merger transaction is that rates will be lower than they otherwise would have been under the separate status quos.

So what I would put to you is that the five utilities -- and this is an opinion rather than, you know, substantiating it -- would have likely have been -- if you aggregated the capital requirements of the five utilities continuing separately, they would have likely been higher, because there is no opportunity for rationalization or productivity between capital programs that are working independently.

So, no, I wouldn't agree that we're spending any ratepayer benefit, and in fact those ratepayer benefits are tied to the merger synergies, which we are realizing, which we have provided evidence on and we're realizing.

So the premise of the merger transaction is, again, that rates would be lower than they otherwise would have been under the status quo.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're admitting that in 2027 you're anticipating there will still be a request for a rate increase?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't have that.  If you go back and you look at -- relative to the status quo, again, you would have to do the math on both scenarios.

So it is sort of like if you knew then what you know now or what has changed in the interim, you would have a rate trajectory under the status quo, based on capital requirements and OM&A requirements under rebasing assumptions.  You would have a rate trajectory under the merged scenario, and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you.

MR. BASILIO:  -- you take the delta.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Basilio, you said that before.  We understand the counter-factual argument.  I am asking a much simpler question.

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, I don't see how that is counter-factual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Counter-factual is the term for, this is what it would have been, this is what we're actually expecting.  Counter-factual is what it would have been.  It's a term from philosophy.

The -- I am asking a much simpler question, though.  Are we expecting to have a rate increase in 2027?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, though, I guess I struggle with this, because I am not sure what 2027 has to do with the application that is before the Board.  I mean, this application is about assessing the incremental capital and assessing the DSP over the five-year period that's been put forward and the nuances or changes associated with the
M-factor.  It's not about, which I sense from Mr. Shepherd's cross -- and maybe I am wrong -- sounds as though it's, you know, making this process about a re-evaluation of the MAADs process or the merger or whatever else.

But I don't think it is really fair to put it to the witness today about what is going to happen in 2027 when that's not the period over which the request is made, nor is it related to the plan that is before the Board.

It's a completely different scenario outside of the evidentiary premise of the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the MAADs regulatory compact, if you like, is:  You merging companies, you get this $420 million of benefits, net benefits, over ten years.  And that will cover your cost and will give you a benefit, a net benefit, associated with doing this transaction.  We'll give that to you.  You ratepayers, in return, at the end of that you will be better off.  You will have lower rates because that happened.  They get the 420.  We get something else.

Our argument is that they now want to change the compact.  They want to change that deal so that they get extra capital money as well as the 420.

And what we're saying, I think, what we're going to say, is:  No, no, then we don't get our side of the bargain.  You have got to have both sides.

So we're asking a legitimate question, are you taking away our side of the bargain?  And they can do the math.  They know how much their rate base is going to increase, and that's going to drive their rates.

I mean, I can do it in argument too, but it would be better if they did it.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think it is better placed in argument, quite frankly, and, you know, the issue about the incremental cost of capital and the compact -- and I don't think we should argue it here today, but effectively the MAADs policy contemplates the fact that there is incremental capital.

The question before the Board is, how do you calculate that incremental capital.  Not re-evaluation of what happened or didn't happen with respect to the merger.

MR. BASILIO:  I am not going to answer the question.  I can't predict a rate outcome seven years hence, but I do want to say that we are not violating the regulatory compact with respect to MAADs at all.

The case is always provided as the difference between two paradigms, continuing under the status quo, and looking what the outcome is under a merged scenario.

And so you have -- if we're going to make a comparison, if we're going to do a forward-looking comparison, you have to go back and look at what would have happened under the status quo if we knew now what we didn't know then and look at what the changes are.

This case -- we are going to deliver these benefits.  This case was predicated on synergy realization.  The exogenous factors affect the utility under both scenarios in any event.  Whether they needed incremental capital, whether there is a policy change, we're going to deliver the synergies.  That at the end of the day is the customer benefit.  We provided a lot of evidence around those synergies; those will be rebased to the benefit of customers in 2027.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree with me, won't you, Mr. Basilio, that the Board told you in 2018 and 2019 decisions what the regulatory compact is, what you can expect to get during this deferred rebasing period.

And you said -- and I understand why, but you said well, that's not enough, we need to finance our Distribution System Plan.  And so you're coming in to ask for more, is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  I am not asking for any more than at this point -- plus or minus a little bit, than I put forward in our MAADs business plan.  That MAADs business plan had $570 million and change of ICM capital, with an associated $160 million of revenue requirement expectation across the 10-year period.

We're here asking for 60.8 across five years, with an associated capital incremental capital expenditure of 265.

So the expectations we painted in the MAADs are pretty much right on line with what we're putting forward here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that comes to the nub of it, right.  So if this Board determines that they didn't change the rules, that whatever you expected in the MAADs decision, however you interpreted it was just incorrect.  And then you're asking for something different.

Whereas, if this Board determines, no, we did change the rules on them, then you're asking for -- to go back to those previous rules, right, basically?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I am not suggesting that the Board changed its -- it is up to the Board to determine the rules.   What I have said, I think, or certainly clarified is that there has been a change in expectation at our end relative to what we thought MAADs policy was delivering.

And we have -- including, and I've said this a few times, what the objective of that policy is.  And that if the trend that we've seen in 2018 and 2019 continues, that's going to put us in a very difficult position, in terms of rate-funded capital, incremental rate-funded capital going forward.

Mr. Cananzi and Mr. Wasik have spoken about that.  So again, we're here with a problem that we've put before the Board, and what we think is an innovative approach in trying to meet the object of that MAADs policy to get financing for that incremental capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did I just hear you admit -- and I'm probably, it is probably just wishful thinking.  But did I just hear you admit that you misunderstood the MAADs decision, what the MAADs policy was at the time?

MR. BASILIO:  No, no, no.  You did not hear that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  So this is my last question and it shouldn't take long.  I am on page 67 of your financial plan, which happily has a number.

This is your description of your capital plan.  This is the narrative description of your capital plan, right, this page and the next couple of pages.  Yes?

MR. BASILIO:  Excuse me while I get to the page, please.  Yes, I have it.  I don't know that I will be answering, but we have the page.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, this is your financial plan, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am looking here at where you say because of OEB decisions, we're not going to be able to do all the capital that we need to do to operate our system, to have a safe reliable and sustainable distribution system.

Where does it say that?  Because I see nothing like that in here.

MR. BASILIO:  Right.  In the entire plan?  Well, we're not -- the purpose of this section is really to articulate what the plan is.  But I think that message is elsewhere.  It's certainly been provided to our board and our audit committee that we have concerns and risks and what not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand and we saw your presentation, I get that.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, it's not here.  This is just to -- I think the purpose of this is to articulate the plan and I think you would see in the tables -- at least I believe it was there -- that we've highlighted, in each instance, if we only get 50 percent of the ICM, the potential impact that could have to the capital plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, understood.  But I guess I would have thought I would have seen in the narrative some assessment of how bad it's going to be if you don't get this $137.1 million that you think you are not going to get.

Like, isn't that a risk that your board of directors wants to know?

MR. BASILIO:  It is.  It's a risk that has been articulated to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see it here.

MR. BASILIO:  It is not in this section.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why wouldn't the Board conclude from this that you told your board of directors, we can run the system in a safe reliable and sustainable manner on this much money.  And now you are telling the Board, no, to do that same thing, we need more money.

MR. BASILIO:  That's not what I told my board of directors, or Max would have told the board of directors. We would have said to the board of directors that we have a real issue.

Again, recall that we have presented the -- and we have provided some evidence here on the rate application to our audit committee and the board, and it's a lot of the exact same information, you know, that you see; the degrading reliability trends, the necessity for underground replacement, all those sort of things.

The board is fully aware of the risks, I assure you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where you say on page 67:
"The LDC core capital investment plan for 2019-2023 was developed using asset management practices that optimized the performance and lifestyle costs of all assets in a safe, reliable and sustainable manner."


That's not what you were telling the board.  You were actually telling your board of directors, well, we're not going to have enough money to do this.  We wish we did.

MR. BASILIO:  We may not have enough money.  We're here before the Board today asking for the associated funding.  But what we are telling the Board is there are some risks should -- you know, should we continue to have funding gaps across the rebasing deferral period.

These things are starting to become very material and that's, you know, that's why we're here with something innovative, something a bit different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, that is all of my questions, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  We will take a lunch break now.  We will resume at 1:30.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:31 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.

Just before we continue, we said we were going to discuss Mr. Shepherd's request at the break.  So the Panel did discuss the request for the depreciation continuity schedules and determined that, given the nature of the application and the focus on determining whether the addition of capital is needed, the Panel felt that these schedules would not be necessary.

So with that, I also understand -- sorry, go ahead, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  No.  We may be actually about to talk about the same thing, so I will let you go ahead first.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  No, I heard that -- or we were told Mr. Garner had some questions?  Or do you have something else?

MR. KEIZER:  Oh, another matter.  Mr. Lyle, who is here, obviously --


DR. ELSAYED:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  -- on a selected issue, apparently has to catch a flight later this afternoon.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he's good I think 'til the break time, whenever that may be, hopefully around three o'clock or a little after.

So I have spoken with Board Staff counsel.  At this point they don't have any questions for him, so it would be really -- obviously he's happy to stay in the event that the Commission -- or the panel has questions for him, but otherwise if he could be excused at that time it would be of assistance to him.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  We discussed it and determined that we do not have questions for him, so --


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you very much.

DR. ELSAYED:  You're welcome.

No, I also -- because the financial plan was introduced after Mr. Garner had his cross, and I understand you have a couple of questions about it?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner (cont'd):


MR. GARNER:  I do, and I will try and be as brief as I can.  They're not very extensive.

If I could just ask the panel, on the financial plan itself, there isn't a date on the plan.  Maybe you said this, but what is the actual date of the -- not the presentation, but the plan itself?

MR. BASILIO:  It would have been the same date.

MR. GARNER:  December 14th --


MR. BASILIO:  14th, 2018.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And Ms. Butany-DeSouza, the application is filed May 28th.  Now -- of 2019.  And I know it takes some time, maybe even a week or two, to make an application like this, but when did you actually start the application?

[Laughter]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  You're not allowed to tell everybody around me that it only takes a week or two to build an application.  What am I doing the rest of the time?

We were still in the 2019 application in December.  The DSP, as we've discussed, was underway in 2018.

When did we turn to the 2019 application?  January.

MR. GARNER:  January.  So here's my confusion --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Late January-ish.

MR. GARNER:  That's fine.  I don't need an exact date --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's fine?

MR. GARNER:  -- that's fine.  My confusion arises this:  If you go to the presentation now -- and I am on page -- the PDF page is 8 of 30 of the presentation.

Here's my confusion, and I am sure you can clear it up, I think.  It is called "key assumptions and risks".  Is this the page?  Yes.  If you look at the line starts "ICM revenue of X 38 point million (sic) in the years 2019 to '23, 50 percent recovery of eligible ICM projects".  The key thing here is the word "ICM".

And there is no -- as far as I can see in either of the plans -- anything talking about M-factors or a different way of approaching this.  And so my confusion is you're at this meeting and the M-factor application is about to begin in a month from now.  There is nothing here that talks about M-factor.  Why is that?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Garner, just, if I can just have one minute to double-check one thing, please.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  So in the New Year, in January, as we were closing out the prior application waiting for the decision, we were discussing the Distribution System Plan as we were -- as that was coming together in full draft format.

And it was in January that the M-factor was proposed to our executive committee, and then in February of the same year, February 2019 -- which is part of CCC-1, attachment 1, February 27, 2019 -- that we put the same proposition to the audit committee of our board and then our board of directors.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Mr. Cananzi, I am just perplexed by that.  If you look at what you're telling the board in December, you're talking about ICM programs, and as I understand it the plan is discussing the risks associated with the plan of getting 50 percent of those ICM programs.

And a month later you're going to just the executive, not back to the board, you're going to recreate a different plan called M-factor in order to address that issue, and then, as I understand it, listening to Mr. Keizer, you put before the board an M-factor or nothing.  There is no ICM.  Even though you're talking about an ICM in December, you're now putting before the board something quite different and explaining to us there is no ICM.

Can you tell me why you didn't go back to the board to have what would seem to me on the face of it a very important discussion about the risks inherent in doing that?

MR. CANANZI:  I think that the comments in the presentation are indicative and explanatory, in the sense that they're looking back at the 2018-2019 decisions, based on those that were ICM applications, and we've already laid out through evidence that the board was informed, in terms of the full extent of what our capital needs are and what we felt is from a conservative -- as you heard our CFO give an explanation, is that we had to pick something.  It wasn't going to be zero, it wasn't going to be 100 percent, so we went with something that was right in the middle, 50 percent, in terms of being conservative and something that we could solidly produce financial results out of to give an indication and a forward-looking view as to what we would be having there.

So I wouldn't read too much into the word "ICM" in that PowerPoint application -- in that PowerPoint presentation, sorry, other than the fact that it is looking back to the 2018-2019 decisions, which were ICM applications.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I am afraid it doesn't, if you look at it.  It actually talks about 2019 to '23.  And with respect, I read a lot into that word, because you yourselves as applicants have made the noted point that you do not have an ICM backup set of projects, and you are in December explaining to your board that you are potentially going to get 50 percent of those projects.

Now, which projects are you actually talking to the board about at that time?  Like, what are these projects?  Are they someplace that we can see them?

MR. CANANZI:  That's the full DSP plan.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  While the panel is conferring, I just again, Mr. Garner, take you back to the consistency of the language that we used in the merger business plan going back to 2016-2017 with our interpretation and understanding of ICM and the language in there.

There was a financial model that was presented going forward that consistently talks about ICM revenue, incremental to the base case in rates, et cetera.

So this is just and extenuation of that.  But I will turn it over to my other colleagues on the panel, if they have further information.

MR. BASILIO:  Mr. Garner, sorry, there have been a few questions.  Maybe could you restate the question in terms of it's concern you have?  Could you help me with the concern and maybe we can try to address that?

MR. GARNER:  Certainly.  I don't think what Mr. Cananzi has said is responsive to the question.  The question is really pretty simple.

In December of 2018, you are before your board of directors telling them that you might get 50 percent of some set of ICM projects.  A month later, you are on a path to not put that in front of the Ontario Energy Board, but to in fact put something different in front of the Ontario Energy Board called the M-factor, to which now, you explained to us, you have no ICM projects in which the Board could review, because this is a M-factor case.

You have also put before the Board and argued, at least your counsel has at times, that this is not about ICM, and ergo, there is a potential risk here if the Board should deny your application of not only getting 50 percent of whatever these ICM projects are you are talking about at this moment, but in fact getting zero of your incremental.

And yet your board of directors seems -- based on this I am looking at -- totally unaware of that potential.

MR. BASILIO:  But the presentation lacks context. And so in December of 2018, the best information we had at that time for inclusion in the financial plan was to include something consistent with past decisions.  That was the -- as I mention mentioned earlier, this is sort of an approach of conservatism in including 50 percent.

As Ms. Butany just said, we didn't have any developed M-factor in December.

The context with our board in December was that we're concerned about this, and frankly the dialogue was should we try something new.  Like what else can we do?  I mean the board is not as familiar with regulation as, say, Ms. Butany myself, or certainly the intervenors.

And so M-factor was large largely developed shortly after that first presentation to the executive committee, and Ms. Butany and I would have had discussions about that, probably shortly after the Christmas break, on what else we can do.

And the M-factor evolved around that.  We would not bring, you know, concepts so undeveloped to our board at that time.  Like really it is for the executive committee to resolve an approach, particularly one like this with the risks you articulate, before presenting it to the board, which we did do shortly after this was resolved.

MR. GARNER:  That's fine.  I think I understand that at this time, you're saying your board is not aware of the M-factor.

But my second part of the question, which is also very specific, is this talks about 38.4 million in ICM revenue. It seems to me that must you're telling your board this, the board of directors this, that must be based on an assessment of something.

I am asking you what is that something that you are talking about there?  Where did you get that ICM revenue you're talking to the board you're going to get 50 percent of.  What is the ICM that you are talking about?

MS. YEATES:  So as Mr. Basilio mentioned, at the time we put together the 2018 financial -- the 2019 financial plan, the only decision that we had at that time was the 2018 decision.

And based on that decision in which Alectra received 50 percent recovery, we applied that same 50 percent recovery assumption to the 2019 plan.

So if we look at actually -- what exhibit?  The Alectra financial plan.  That is Exhibit J?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Alectra financial plan?  K2.5.

MS. YEATES:  Sorry, K2.5.  If you look at table 4.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, table 4 helps.

MR. BASILIO:  Which is two pages after page 13.

MS. YEATES:  Okay.  If you can just scroll down just a bit more.

If we look at the 2019 column, you notice that total incremental relief in 2019 is 2.4. So that's what we would have submitted as part of the 2019 rate application.

So what we did is we took a high-level approach to estimating ICM revenue in the 2020-2023 period.

So you will notice that in 2020, we forecasted 1.2 million in ICM revenue for each rate zone, which is basically half of the 2.4.  So we really took a high level approach.

We applied for ICM for two rate zones in 2019, with incremental revenue of 2.4 million. So that is, on average, 1.2 per rate zone.

So we just took a high level assumption looking out to say, okay, if we apply for ICM revenue for three rate zones, it would be approximately -- equate to 1.2 per rate zone.  Then we took the 50 percent recovery assumption.

So at that time, we didn't have the 2019 decision.  We only had the 2018 decision.  We had 2019 ICM projects that were before the Board and as a result, based on that information that we had at that time -- and that was the only information and the best information we had at that time -- those were the assumptions that we used in the 2019 plan.

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, Mr. Garner, I don't think that answers your question.  I think what you're asking what underlying capital is this based on.

MR. GARNER:  I don't want to belabour this.  I am going to help you, because I know my friends are very anxious and I want to help here.

Maybe you could undertake to do this, if it is okay with you.  You have a figure of $38.4 million there.

Can you undertake to show us the derivation of that calculation and how it actually is derived, and where you got that number from?

I hear what was said, and it could be that that's so.  But could you actually provide us how that number and the supporting background you used to provide that number to your board of directors.  Is that possible?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Can we refer to -- maybe Mr. Murray has the list already.  But I believe we agreed to an undertaking, J2.3, and that might be the same.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I believe it may be the same, with the exception of perhaps the supporting documents.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  If you could provide us the support for it, how you derive it and just add that, whatever colour goes around that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.

MR. GARNER:  Those are my questions.  That's why I didn't want to interrupt you, but that's -- thank you, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  So is that the same undertaking?

MR. MURRAY:  No.  That will also just be part of J2.3 from yesterday.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Murray?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.

Before we get started, Staff has a compendium that will be marked for the record as Exhibit K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. MURRAY:  To start our discussion here today, I would like to follow up on some questions you were having with Mr. Shepherd this morning about the input price index, and the impact that it has on Alectra's M-factor proposal.

If I could ask you to turn to tab 2 of Staff's compendium, which is page 7?  And at page 7, what you will see is a chart titled "Historical OEB issued input price indices for inflation for price cap adjustments".

Do you have the document?

MS. YEATES:  Yes, we do.

MR. MURRAY:  And as the title suggests, what this does is it shows the average inflationary rates that have been used by the OEB from the years 2007 to 2019.  Correct?

MS. YEATES:  I see that.

MR. MURRAY:  And you also agree that if you were to average the inflation rates over that time period, it works out to 1.74 percent, correct?

MS. YEATES:  The calculation seems correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  You don't take issue with the number, do you?

MS. YEATES:  With the calculation?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MS. YEATES:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  If you also --


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, are you asking -- well, if -- sorry, what is the nature do we take issue with?

MR. MURRAY:  I am asking if summing up the average inflation rate from 2007 to 2019, simple math, it works out to --


MS. YEATES:  The math is correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Not whether or not you agree -- I will go later in terms of what it is going to be used for.  I'm not asking for the underlying assumptions; I am asking just for the numbers.

And if we look at the top line, it will show that for 2019, the IPI was 1.5 percent, correct?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And in calculating the threshold that is used as part of your M-factor proposal, you used the 2019, 1.5 percent, correct?

MS. YEATES:  Yes, that's what we did.

MR. MURRAY:  And also, you have confirmed, I believe, and just for the record, that ultimately when the 2020 IPI number is used you will update your M-factor proposal to use that number, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MURRAY:  I see the panel is conferring.  Perhaps it would be helpful if I could just direct you back to page 3 of the compendium, which is from the transcript from the technical conference.  And I am looking at page 139, starting at line 5, where Mr. Ritchie says:

"Okay, and this is -- and your application proposes that you will update this with the price cap ex index for 2020 with the IPI for 2020 when it is available from the OEB."

And Ms. Butany responds "that is correct."

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.  So I definitely said that.  And having considered it in terms of how the mechanics of this would actually work, we had some discussion subsequently in oral hearing with many in the room in terms of setting the riders.  I think we had further discussion with Mr. Ritchie in the technical conference on the riders and the CIVA, and then discussion here in oral hearing on the CIVA.

Having given it further thought, our view is that -- and what we had actually put to the Board originally was -- the OEB -- is that we're looking for the M-factor funding over the five years, so that determination of the eligible capital and therefore the M-factor related funded capital and then the M-factor riders, in order for it to be consistent with the goal, which is, one, rate stability and, two, investment certainty, and then an envelope for flexibility over the five years -- what we're seeking is that determination now in this application over the next five years.

So if we were to update the inflation factor each year, then it changes -- I am not sure how the Board would determine anything, because it would change the threshold, and then it would potentially change the eligible capital related projects.

So that doesn't give my colleagues who have to execute on the capital the certainty and planning horizon on which to make those investments on behalf of our customers.

So our view would be that a historical average would be more appropriate, because it then doesn't use -- I mean, I see the fluctuation in the IPI over the last -- you've gone back to 2006 or 2007 for forward test year -- see the fluctuation over the time period up until today.

So our view perhaps evolved over looking at how would we actually do this, is that it is more appropriate rather than just updating for the one year to use a multi-year historical average, perhaps three years, back to 2017, which is the formation of Alectra, or last five years, in order to have a stable factor to include, and then variances would be caught up in the CIVA.

MR. MURRAY:  So as I understand it then, you're changing which number?  We don't know today which interest rate then you are proposing to use; is that correct?  Sorry, which inflation rate you are going to use.  You're not going to use the 1.5.  You indicated perhaps you're going to go back three years or five years.  Do we have a definitive number in terms of what you are asking for and its impact on the proposal?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Well, you had put to me that 1.5 was the last available.  And then -- or Mr. Ritchie had put to me that 1.5 was the last available and would we update it for something.  And so I recognize, having taken this away, that a static -- the static one year without -- we can't update each year because it eliminates the elements of the M-factor that we need for investment stability and to execute the DSP for our customers.

And so we would likely say that a five-year historical average -- which is aligned to the five historical -- similar, consistent with presentation of five years' worth of historical in a Distribution System Plan makes sense and is aligned.

MR. MURRAY:  Will you undertake to provide a calculation of the impact on the threshold calculation using your five-year historical average?  Because right now we don't have that on the record.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I can undertake to provide that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PROVIDE A CALCULATION OF THE IMPACT ON THE THRESHOLD CALCULATION USING THE FIVE-YEAR HISTORICAL AVERAGE.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, and with that you will make a definitive position of what it is you are asking for?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  I actually think that it ties nicely to -- and I don't have the undertaking number in front of me, but with the update for GRZ, the GRZ item.  Ms. DeMarco had asked us to confirm the relief sought, and so I think it is consistent with doing that.

So perhaps we can state it in both places, but certainly you will also see it in that undertaking response as well.

MR. MURRAY:  And I don't want to belabour the point, but I heard from your answer that you said that this is somehow something that came up with Mr. Ritchie.  My understanding was also in your original application you were proposing to update it to the 2020 number; is that not correct?  And if you want I can give you the reference to the original evidence.

It is Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 12, where it says:

"The PCI of 1.2 is a placeholder to be updated with the OEB's approved PCI for 2020 when it is available."

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.  We did, and then we had -- I'm sorry, perhaps I mischaracterized, but we had a discussion with Mr. Ritchie on the sensitivities, which I am sure you are coming to, but we had the discussion on the sensitivities of the model and, therefore, the -- we were trying to figure out how we would make it work if we were looking to the Board to give us confirmation on funding over the five-year period, then how would that actually work, how would the mechanics of it actually work.

MR. MURRAY:  And I would like to now move on to tab 3, and as you've correctly predicted, we are next going to talk about a chart titled "ICM materiality threshold and
M-factor sensitivity analysis".  Do you have that document?

MS. YEATES:  We do.

MR. MURRAY:  And this chart -- what this chart does, it provides a comparison of the ICM materiality thresholds when the IPI is 1.5 and 1.74.  Do you take any issues with the calculations?

MS. YEATES:  Yes, the calculations are correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at the bottom left-hand corner, there will be a line saying "Total Delta 2020 to 2024", and then you will see 43 point, essentially, $8 million.  Do you see that number?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And it shows that over the period 2020 to 2024 an IPI of 1.74 would increase the aggregate materiality threshold by 43.8 million; isn't that correct?

MS. YEATES:  Yes, a change to the inflation from 1.5 to 1.74, yes, will change the materiality threshold.

MR. MURRAY:  And that higher materiality threshold will result in a reduction of $43.8 million in the capital expenditure to be recovered through the M-factor proposal.  Isn't that right?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And if I could ask you then to turn to tab 4.  We've done another essentially similar chart, ICM materiality threshold and M-factor sensitivity analysis, IPI 2.15 percent per JTI1.7.  Do you have that document?

MS. YEATES:  Yes, we do.

MR. MURRAY:  And it is essentially the same calculation that was done in the previous chart, except this one is done with comparing 1.5 IPI to a 2.15 IPI.  Would you agree?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And the 2.15 percent is equivalent to the interest rate that was used to calculate the capital expenses doing your DSP; isn't that right?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.  That is a number we gave in response to an undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  JTI1.7.  And you don't take any issues with the math.

MS. YEATES:  I don't take any issues with the math, but what I would like to identify is that, as you've stated, you've done some sensitivity analysis around the IPI compared to what was currently -- what is used in the current calculation.

So you have used 1.74, you've used 2.15.  And 1.74 is taking, I guess, a 12-year average.

What I would also like to identify -- and I think I mentioned it earlier today -- is that there are two key inputs into the calculation that would result in sensitivity to the materiality threshold, right.  One is the inflation and the second is the growth.

So what you've currently done, under the scenario where you have used 12 years of historical average for the inflation, if we were to look at the growth -- because the growth factor similarly is a calculation comparing 2018 actual billing determinants to the level of the billing determinants that were approved in each legacy utilities' rebasing application.  So it is a point in time.

If we were to actually look at the impact on growth each year subsequent to the rebasing period, and looked at the average impact on growth over that time, the result that we're showing right now using 2018 billing determinants is not representative of the actual impact on growth over that period of time, right. So it would be lower for most rate zones.

So that impact, similar to sensitivity with respect to the IPI, sensitivity with respect to the growth will also have an impact on the threshold calculation.

MR. MURRAY:  I accept the growth will have an impact on the calculation.  I guess what we're having trouble with is why, in this case, it would result in a lower number.

MS. YEATES:  So for example, like if we look at the Guelph rate zone, we provided an update to the growth calculation and we provided the model that shows the threshold value.

The threshold -- the growth in the model for Guelph was updated to minus .19 percent, right.  That was a comparison of 2018 billing determinants to 2016 cost of service billing determinants.

But as an example, just for illustrative purposes, if we were to do the same calculation using 2017 actual billing determinants, as an example, and compared that to 2016 cost of service billing determinants, the growth would be minus 2.9 percent.  So you can see the fluctuation that changes in billing determinants on an annual basis the actual billing determinants compared to what was approved in a rebasing application, the sensitivity of that to the threshold value -- similar to the inflation, which is what you have identified.

So I just wanted to ensure that we identify the two components.

MR. MURRAY:  But if anything, wouldn't this fluctuation in growth, fluctuation in inflation, wouldn't that enforce the notion that we should be doing it year to year and not over a five-year period because the numbers seem to change?

MS. YEATES:  No.  I think what it would indicate, consistent with what Ms. Butany has indicated, is that we are applying for five years' worth of M-factor capital funding.

And the whole purpose of that five-year period is, one, it aligns with the DSP and, two, it provides the utility with certainty and stability in order to execute its capital plan over that period of time.

So updating on an annual basis would result in fluctuations and different...

MR. MURRAY:  I'm not suggesting updating on an annual basis.  But wouldn't that suggest, given you seem to raise concerns that there's fluctuations in the inflation rate, fluctuations in growth, if you were to come in each year and ask for ICMs, there wouldn't be that same issue, would there?  Because each year you could judge it based on that snapshot of that year.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Right.  But we are not asking for an ICM; we are asking for the M-factor.

We framed the relief around needing five years' worth of capital investment certainty in order to execute.

We want the ability to use that envelope as between the five years and the rate zones.  We're tying back to the specific projects that are approved through this process, but without -- without that investment certainty, all of that falls away.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we will move on and just go back to the charts.  I just want to make sure it is confirmed you would agree with me when we're comparing 2.15 to 1.5 percent, if you use a 2.15 percent IPI, the difference in the ICM materiality threshold is $120 million.  Is that correct?

MS. YEATES:  The math works, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So then rather than a $265 million
M-factor, if you're using a 2.15 IPI, the M-factor funding over the five years would only be $144 million.

MS. YEATES:  Mr. Murray, the use of any inflation factor that's different than the 1.5 percent that we have used, any range of that, yes, would result in a different threshold value.

MR. MURRAY:  So would you agree with me that the true capital funding gap, using an apples to apples comparison, the same inflation rate is $144 million?  And just to clarify, the question I am asking is assuming everything else is the same.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Mr. Murray, as Ms. Yeates has said, the sensitivity of the model to both the IPI and the growth rate can't be ignored.

Your math is not wrong, in terms of the impact of a 2.15 percent versus a 1.5 percent IPI.  I don't take issue with that math.

The point I would like to make, however, is that in order to take a consistent approach with the basis on which the DSP is set, we think it is appropriate, I will include it in the updated relief, to look at both factors, growth factor and IPI, and recognizing the fluctuation of both of these on the model to take a five-year historical average in terms of setting at this point the future M-factor riders which of course get trued-up, trued-up through the CIVA subsequently.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now move on.  If we could go to tab 6 of the compendium, this is a chart entitled "Table 1, last rebasing forecasted in-service additions of Alectra Utilities' predecessor LDCs adjusted for inflation.

Do you have that document?

MS. YEATES:  We do.

MR. MURRAY:  It is page 11.  So Staff has prepared this table based upon forecasted in-service additions of each of Alectra's predecessor utilities at the time of their last rebasing.  The numbers highlighted in yellow are the forecasted in-service additions of the last respective rebasing applications.

Do you take any issue with those numbers, the numbers highlighted in yellow?  Do you agree they're correct?

MS. YEATES:  Except for the Horizon rate zone. I believe that number should be 49, 472 per the settlement, per Horizon utilities' settlement agreement.  But all of the other numbers for the other rate zones highlighted in yellow, those should reconcile to Appendix 2BA that was filed as part of each of the legacies' last rebasing application.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you agree that the 51,000 -- or the 51,272, that is the number that you've actually used in your model?  Your ICM model?  Because that is where we took it from?

MS. YEATES:  I would have to --


MR. MURRAY:  It is tab 5.  Cell C12.  Rebase capital additions.  Sorry, tab 5 in the model.

MS. YEATES:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, to the extent it is a different number, will you undertake to provide or redo these calculations with what is the proper or what is --


MS. YEATES:  Which calculation, just --


MR. MURRAY:  Well, Table 1 and Table 2.  They're based upon a number that you provided to us, which you said is your last --


MR. BASILIO:  Can we just pull it up?  Let's go to it.

MS. YEATES:  GRZ staff -- no.  Sorry.  G-Staff-8.  G-Staff-8.  The ICM model attachment for the Horizon rate zone.  Tab 6.

MR. MURRAY:  Tab 5.

MS. YEATES:  Tab 5.  Sorry.  Okay, yes, that's the number that is shown on tab 5.

MR. MURRAY:  So which is the right number?  Because this is the number you currently have in the evidence.  Will you accept that that is the accurate number?

MS. YEATES:  I will undertake to just double-check the number.

MR. MURRAY:  But to the extent the number is in error, isn't there a whole series of calculations that all then have to be updated, including the ICM materiality threshold?

MS. YEATES:  This particular -- the input with -- with respect to the calculation, the threshold value takes the depreciation number from this tab and not the capital additions number.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, to the extent it is a different number, can you undertake to redo the Tables 1 and 2 with the accurate number?

MS. YEATES:  OEB Staff's Tables 1 and 2?

MR. MURRAY:  OEB's Tables 1 and 2 from tab 6 with -- if it is a 49,000 something, rerun all of the numbers with that.

MS. YEATES:  That's not a problem.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO REDO TABLES 1 AND 2 WITH THE ACCURATE NUMBER.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, I am not understanding.  Does that affect your ICM models, then, and should they be updated if they're not correct?

MS. YEATES:  Well, when you follow -- if we follow the calculation of the threshold value, the threshold value calculation does not rely on that input.

MS. ANDERSON:  But --


MR. MURRAY:  But isn't it used to calculate the rate base?

MS. YEATES:  I am confident that the rate base number is correct.  So it may just be -- the rate base number shown here ties to the revenue-requirement work form for the Horizon rate zone that was submitted as part of Alectra Utilities' 2019 rate application, because, as you are aware, that gets filed every year because Horizon rate zone is on our custom IR plan term.

MR. MURRAY:  So I understand that you will check the number and see whether or not there is any error.  But you would agree even if it is, I guess, 49 something versus 51, it will make a significant difference in this calculation.  Would you agree?

MS. YEATES:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So perhaps we can just go through the calculation.  So as I said, the calculation, what it does is it goes back to your last cost of service, the last forecasted in-service additions, and what it's done since then is it has updated for an inflationary factor up to present day based upon the -- based on the IPI that was used by the Board, and then from 2020 to 2024, we have applied an IPI, which is the average of the last five years minus the stretch factor, .3, so we get a number of 1.4.

And when we do that, if you look at Table 1, the amount of capital that was supported by rates in the past, adjusted for inflation to today, for 2020 works out to $268.2 million.  Correct?  Is that what the table shows?

MS. YEATES:  That is what the table shows.

MR. MURRAY:  And we can agree that is only $14.7 million lower than Alectra's planned capital expenditures for 2020 using -- under the DSP, correct?

MS. YEATES:  Mr. Murray, so this table uses, as you said, the capital additions that were included in each legacy's rebasing application and implies an inflation rate and the growth factor.

However, that is not reflective at all of the level of capital funded in base rates.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry.  We're on Table 1.  We actually haven't gone to Table 2, deals with the growth.  We're only -- this one only deals with inflation.

MS. YEATES:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess we can get to the merits of debating one approach versus another in a minute.  What I am hoping just first get clarification on, confirmation on, is whether or not we can agree on the math.

So in terms of the math, this shows based upon the calculation that was done then 2020 there is a number of 268 million point 2, and --


MS. YEATES:  You're just asking me if the mathematics work?  One --


MR. MURRAY:  Well, there is 268.2, is only 14.7 less than you are asking for in your DSP.

MR. BASILIO:  Mr. Murray, maybe to cut to it, what the table purports to do is to take capital additions, let's start with 2019, apply an inflation factor year over year, and I think it gets -- at the bottom here there is an aggregate number of those inflation-adjusted numbers that is about 1.38.  We're asking for -- or we're not asking for, but rather our total DSP is 1.457.  And you are showing a difference of 77.4.  That is what the table purports to do, presumably.  We would agree with that.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  And then if we could go to -- one more thing before we go on.  If you agree, rather than using an inflation factor of 1.7, which we're using for future years, we use 2.15, the $77 million negative would actually be lower.

MR. BASILIO:  As the inflation number rises in this table between 2020 and '24, the difference will be lower.

MR. MURRAY:  And subject to check, will you accept that the gap, if it was a 2.15 percent inflation factor used, would be approximately $58 million?

MR. BASILIO:  Do we have the table, Mr. Murray?  Just in Excel format, I just wonder?

MR. MURRAY:  The cell format table, yes, we sent that to you.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, subject to check we can do that.  So we should check 2.15.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you now to turn to Table 2, because Table 2 is essentially Table 1.  All we have done is, in addition to inflation we have added to growth.  So when you factor for both inflation and growth -- I don't think we need to go through all of the numbers -- if you go through all of that --


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Murray, just to be clear, just to make sure we're clear, so what you're asking is whether they agree with the mathematics, not whether they agree with the principle, correct?

MR. MURRAY:  I want to make sure we agree with the mathematics first, and then we will talk about principles.

So if you look at Table 2, counting for table in growth, the amount of capital that what was supported by rates in the past based on Alectra's predecessors totals 281 million for 2020.  Correct?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And the difference between the amount of capital that was supported by rates in the past adjusted for inflation and growth as compared to Alectra's DSP for the period 2020 to 2024 works out to approximately a positive number of $45 million.  Is that correct?

MS. YEATES:  That is what the table shows, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And you don't take issue with the math?

MS. YEATES:  No.  The math is the math.

MR. MURRAY:  And this would suggest that, counting for inflation and growth and based on historic levels of in-service additions, Alectra's base rates should support higher levels of in-service additions than is required by the DSP for this five years.  Do you agree with that?

MS. YEATES:  No.  I do not agree.  Mr. Murray, as I was saying earlier, the table -- both table 1 and table 2 that you presented is not reflective at all of the level of capital funded in base rates.

The OEB has established a well-thought-out basis for utilities to determine the materiality threshold calculation, which establishes the level of capital that is funded through base rates.

And I think it is important to mention that in that calculation, that formula incorporates both the impact of the price cap and load growth on the level of capex that can be funded without additional rate relief.

So what Alectra Utilities has done in the M-factor is to use the OEB's materiality threshold calculation, which includes key inputs from each legacy utilities' last rebasing application, which include rate base, depreciation, the inflation and growth factors which we just spoke about a moment ago, and that calculation actually establishes the level of capital that is funded in base rates.

So I don't agree that tables 1 and 2, that is not what table 1 and 2 does.

MR. MURRAY:  I hear you talking about the ICM materiality threshold.  That is what you're talking about, correct?

MS. YEATES:  The threshold value calculation, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  It's the ICM material threshold, the one used in the ICM, correct?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.  We have used the same threshold calculation for the M-factor.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree you're not applying for an ICM in this case, are you?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, Mr. Murray, we're not.  But we have been very clear that we've started with the elements of the ICM as the basis of this application, and on which to model and make the calculation determinations.

We have indicated quite clearly, and on more than one occasion now, but again, the difference that we're seeking in order to fund the Distribution System Plan over five years during the rebasing deferral period is the flexibility across the five years on an envelope basis, but tied to the specific projects as across the rate zones with the addition of a capital investment variance factor.

MR. MURRAY:  You would --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We have started with the ICM model as the model, the mathematical model for our M-factor proposal.  We haven't hidden that at all.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree with me that -- and I think we've heard this a number of times, that the M-factor is to address the unique situation of Alectra, correct?  Is that -- you consider this a unique situation, that is why you're asking for the M-factor?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I might need you to ask your question again, or repeat your question.  Sorry, it was that we were unique.  No, I recall it, Mr. Murray, that we've indicated that we are in unique circumstances.

And, yes, the unique circumstances that Alectra finds itself in or that is different from -- I don't know how many other utilities there are, sixty-plus let's say -- is that we are five consolidated utilities into one.  This is our first Distribution System Plan built from the ground up.

We have very clear and clearly documented reliability needs that need to be addressed over a five-year period.

We are not -- we are under price cap IR, so we have tied back to the fundamental principles that are foundational, which is that we're in a price cap IR regime and the model, the ICM model, is based on price cap IR.  So we have used that engine as the basis for the M-factor, with the variations that I have spoken about a few minutes ago and won't repeat, but we've talked about a number of times.

And those unique circumstances, coming back to the original part of your question, there's no -- there's no other utility that is in our circumstance and we are trying to address or solve a funding gap problem in aid of our customers.

Mr. Wasik and Mr. Cananzi have very clearly said this work needs to get done.  We have a problem that we need to address.

So we're here before the Board to work together to try and figure out the solution to that problem, and we have indicated that that's why we're here and that's the uniqueness of our circumstances.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree that in the M-factor proposal, there is no OEB policy which sets out a M-factor proposal, the criteria, how it is considered?

I am aware that there is ICM policy and you have borrowed certain provisions of that that you find desirable.  But there is no OEB policy that speaks to a M-factor, directly.  M-factor, this is what you have to apply, these are the criteria.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Well, Mr. Murray, I mean if we're arguing about what name we gave it, sure.  There is no OEB document that says "M-factor", absolutely.

There is also -- this would be the first time that the OEB has seen a five-way consolidated utility bringing forward a Distribution System Plan.

So, yes, there is no M-factor wording.  What there is is a consolidation policy, so a MAADs policy in 2015 and a MAADs handbook in 2016, that both speak to incremental capital funding during a rebasing deferral period, without having -- without putting distributors in the position of needing to rebase early.

And we are in those circumstances with a need and we've called it an M-factor.  Maybe there was something else we could have called it -- I am sure there is.  But in terms of is it tied to OEB policy?  It's absolutely tied to needing incremental funding during the rebasing deferral period, which is one of the objects of the 2015 MAADs policy.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree with me if you looked at the table number 2, factoring in inflation and growth, it suggests that based on historical in-service additions, there may be more capital available to fund your DSP than you claim.

MR. BASILIO:  Mr. Murray, this to me looks like a very indirect way of trying to determine what capital is supported in rates.

I think the ICM calculation, threshold calculation is certainly far and away more detailed, has been tested against ratemaking principles.

So you know, in terms of a detailed and complex approach to substantiating what is supported by base rates, I think that's largely why we use the ICM engine.

This is a very indirect approach and it is very difficult to accept that, you know, simply applying factors to capital at a point in time is going to substantiate what is supported by base rates.

So I think that is what we take exception to here, and that is why we relied on the ICM engine.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps what we can do now is move on.  I would like to now turn and discuss ICM policy.

We have heard this discussed over the last number of days, and I wanted to make sure I understand Alectra's position correctly.

Alectra's position is that there are two separate ICM policies, one for MAADs and one for non-MAADs.  Is that correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Actually, it's a little difficult to tell.  Like what I can tell you is here's what we're relying on.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Basilio, perhaps if I can take you to the technical conference transcript, page 35, which is found at the compendium tab 9, page 28-29.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  MR. MURRAY:
"Mr. Shepherd:  So you're saying the ICM for MAADs purposes is different from the ICM for everyone else, is that right?
Ms. Butany-DeSouza:  Yes."


So once again my question is, do you take the position there is two separate policies with MAADs?

MR. BASILIO:  If we can just slow down a bit, I think that would be helpful.

I didn't understand the context of the question.  The context of MAADs -- yes, our view would be it is ICM in the context of a MAADs application, so what would we look to.  We would look to the MAADs policy as a starting point, because that -- at the point in time when we were entering into the MAADs transaction and frankly filed the MAADs application, this seemed to be the most current and authoritative document.  So that is what we referred to and that is what we relied on.

MR. MURRAY:  So do you take the position here today that there's two separate ICM policies, one that applies in a MAADs -- post-MAADs situation, and one that applies in other situations?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And in situations such as Alectra's, where a distributor is seeking ICM funding during a MAADs rebasing deferral period, you take the position that a distributor can apply for ICM funding for anything that is normal and expected capital investments.  That's the position you take, correct?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And for post-MAADs situations OEB policy permits ICM funding even where the project is the type of work that would be part of a typical annual capital program.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, again, I am looking at the specific wording here in the policy.  And the policy doesn't differentiate between these two things, and nor does -- and again, coming back to your point earlier, we are not filing an ICM application.  We're filing an M-factor application.

The policy talks about investments.  That's all it talks about.

MR. MURRAY:  No.  If you take -- the ICM policy for non-MAADs situations is pretty clear.  Typical annual capital programs are out.

MR. BASILIO:  I was responding to the policy in the MAADs context.

So here on page 9 of the document --


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Basilio, perhaps we could stop.  We're going to go to that in a minute.  Perhaps if we can just answer my question.

MR. BASILIO:  I am trying to answer your question.  I'm trying -- if your question is, what is the policy basis for --


MR. MURRAY:  No.  My question is, is your position that annual capital program-type projects -- type projects are projects for which you, Alectra, can receive ICM funding?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, projects and investments.

MR. MURRAY:  And this interpretation is based on Alectra's reading of the OEB's March 2015 report on distributor consolidation and the MAADs handbook released in January of 2016.  Correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And I think you would agree with me that in reviewing OEB policies context is important?

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely.

MR. MURRAY:  And I would like to take you to a quote, because I heard a quote from Ms. Butany-DeSouza on Tuesday that I thought was -- I think everyone agrees on it, but I think it encapsulates the issue well.  If I could ask you to turn to tab 10 of the compendium, page 32.  And you may recall this is when Mr. Ladanyi was raising concerns about the fact they received 400 pages of OEB policies in response to one of his interrogatory questions.

And in response, Ms. Butany-DeSouza says -- and I am starting on line 15:

"The thing is these Board policies, they can't be read as an extract of a paragraph here or a paragraph there.  In many instances you need to read them from beginning to end in order to have a full appreciation for the policy that is set out in that document.  Then you need to read the subsequent document and then read it in its entirety."

Do you see those statements?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And this requirement to consider the entirety of documents and other surrounding documents would also apply to the OEB's 2015 report on distributor consolidation where the Board said -- where the Board talks about normal and expected capital.  You would agree you also have to read the surrounding documents and the full policy?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Well, what I said was you need to read them in sequence, right?  Like, you start at the beginning, that there is ACM and ICM, which Mr. Ladanyi as part of this discussion kept putting back to me.

And I said, after that you have to look at the MAADs policy that was released in March 2015.  And after that, you have to look at the January 2016 MAADs handbook.

And in our view, there is a distinction being made at the time of the March 2015 MAADs policy that says:  Here's the challenge that distributors are facing in order to achieve consolidation.  We -- OEB -- want to address that challenge, and in order to do so are making incremental capital funding during the rebasing deferral period available.  Then you read the 2016 MAADs handbook, which emphasizes that point again.

And so, yes, I did say that it wasn't an excerpt here versus an excerpt there.  It's the subsequent release of documents.

MR. BASILIO:  Mr. Murray, if I could add, the policy I referred to on page 9, it goes on, right?  And the next sentence talks about "this clarification of policy".  So this is a clarification of policy.

"Should address the need" -- and I think I have mentioned this before -- "should address the need of those distributors who may not consider entering into a MAADs transaction due to concerns over the ability to finance capital investments".

And so that also underlies the M-factor.  We've been here twice for ICM.  And the outcomes of those decisions is not supporting this objective, in our view.

And so what we're trying to do, based on our unique circumstances, is to align an application with the objectives of this clarified policy.

MR. MURRAY:  If we could turn -- I think we should maybe just go into the documents.  If we can turn to the 2015 MAADs report, which is at tab 11.  And I am going to start our discussion at page 8 of that document, which is on page 41 of the compendium.

This is a page -- I know we have gone to page 9 a lot in the discussion of normal and expected capital investments, but I want to read the paragraphs leading up to that in order to put that in proper context.

Reading from the first full paragraph, where it says:

"Subsequently, in its December 17th, 2008 Supplemental Report of the Board on Third-Generation Incentive Regulation for Ontario's Electricity Distributors, the OEB established the incremental capital module as a mechanism by which distributors could seek funding for extraordinary and unanticipated capital investments (but not normal expected investments) during the incentive regulation term."

Do you see that quote?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And so we can agree the original ICM policy back in -- dating back to 2008 contemplated distributors only getting incremental capital for extraordinary or unanticipated events.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  I think we had this discussion and agreed to the same with Mr. Brett's cross, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  I will continue.  If we could then go to the next paragraph.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I just interject for a moment.  Are we not back to the same place as with Mr. Brett?  And is this not argument that at the end of the day there is various interpretations of these documents and that this is something that would be put forward through argument with respect to the intended meaning of the documents, as opposed to going through this again as we did with Mr. Brett?

MR. MURRAY:  I want to raise three issues.  The first issue is, I believe I am entitled to challenge their interpretation of the policy.  To the extent they have a certain interpretation, I am entitled to put before them other documents and ask them how they are consistent or inconsistent with those documents.

The second and also very important point is they put in issue what they understood at the time of the merger application.  I am entitled to probe to the extent that was actually what they understood at that time and whether or not that understanding was reasonable.

And the third thing I would highlight is one argument that parties may wish to make is to highlight the differences between the ICM and the M-factor.  And in order to truly understand the differences between the ICM and the M-factor we have to understand whether or not there are two ICMs, as your client claims, or one ICM.

So for those reasons I think it is relevant.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, with respect to the first two, I mean, my view is any number of times throughout this proceeding they have been asked for what they believed or understood the MAADs policy to have said or how it relates to the ICM.

I mean, we've gone through this any number of times, both at the technical conference and in the hearing here, as well as through an extensive cross by Mr. Brett.

So I think going through each of the policy documents and rehashing but asking in a different way, asking a different way the same questions, I just don't necessarily believe that we're actually doing anything new with respect to that.

With the latter part of understanding the differences between the M-factor and the ICM, I mean, that's obviously fair game, and to the extent that it hasn't already been explored I think that would be fair, but I think that's also been significantly explored.  But I can't see that we're gaining anything with respect to the review of policy again after -- time and time again.

DR. ELSAYED:  I would just ask Mr. Murray to avoid the duplication between that --


MR. MURRAY:  I will do my best.  I just want to make sure -- because as Alectra has made clear, you have to read everything in context, you have to read the policy from beginning to end, so I want to make sure that certain paragraphs are highlighted for everyone's consideration in terms of considering what they believe certain sentences mean.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please continue --


MR. MURRAY:  But I will try to avoid duplication to the extent possible.

I would like to take you to the next paragraph, which then reads:

"The distributors have indicated that, while an extended deferral period may allow for the recovery of costs, the treatment of capital investments during this period may reduce the benefit of the extension.  Some of the distributors suggested that few, if any, distributors would be able to operate over an deferral period, without incorporating normal and expected capital expenditures into base rates."

So I think we can agree with the concerns; it is obvious what the concerns that were are expressed.

But the one thing I want to raise here is at the time they were expressing this concern, the ICM policy in place was a 2008 policy, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if I can help?  My understanding is what happened was this consultation, the MAADs consultation started in March 2014, and subject to check -- you can correct me, if I am wrong -- the submissions of the various distributors and other interested parties were received in May of that year, and then the consultation that ultimately led to the new ACM report started in June of that year.

MR. BASILIO:  If your question is when this concern was discussed was prior to the revised ICM, that's right.  Sorry, after three days of cross, it's feeling a little taxed.

MR. MURRAY:  As I said before, the 2008 policy did not allow for normal and expected capital expenditures to be subject to an ICM?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  You know, I think it is important to read the last sentence in that paragraph, because that's the heart of the concern, right.

Their concern is that if capital additions cannot be incorporated into rate base, the shareholders rate-of-return would diminish and there would be impacts on financing for capital investments.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Then if we could turn over to the next page, the next page then, going through the chronology and history, then talks about the ACM report that comes out September of 2014, correct?  On September 18th, 2014, the OEB issued the report of the Board, "New Policy Options for Funding of Capital Investments:  The Advanced Capital Module", often referred to as the ACM report.

MR. BASILIO:  Anything written in here we will just accept as being there.

MR. MURRAY:  Then at page -- then it goes on to quote the report and how it is the Board's view that they should no longer -- the ICM should no longer essentially be limited to non-discretionary projects, correct?  That's essentially what the quote is.

MR. BASILIO:  Same with my prior comment.  If it is written here, we will just accept as being there.  It exists.

MR. MURRAY:  And it's after that quote from the ACM report that the sentence which you rely upon appears, where it says:
"The OEB believes the clarification set out in the September 18th report establishes the distributor may now apply for an ICM that includes normal expected capital."


Now, does that sentence not simply say -- it's not setting out a new MAADs policy condition.  Isn't it essentially saying that, distributors, you can now apply for an ICM?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  It's saying may now apply for an ICM that includes normal and expected capital investments.  And it also provides an associated objective tied to that statement.

MR. MURRAY:  Could I ask you to turn back to page 7 and the title of this section:  "The incremental capital module will now be available to consolidated entities during the rate rebasing period."  There is no suggestion from the title that this is creating new criteria.

MR. BASILIO:  I am looking at the OEB policy.  I am looking at the policy statement. Everything previous to that is discussion that leads up to this.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree the title under section C on page 7 of the report does not suggest that there is a new being established for ICM for MAADs situations?

MR. BASILIO:  I can't import that into a title.  I can't import, you know, context into a title.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we can move on.  I would like to go briefly to the MAADs handbook.  That is found at tab 12, page 47 of the compendium. I appreciate we have been to this part of the report before, but there is one particular -- two issues I want to raise because I don't think they have been explored yet, and I think they're very crucial to this matter.

If we could go to page 17, which discusses the ICM, we can agree that in this section which talks about the ICM in the MAADs handbook, there is no discussion that a distributor can get an ICM for any normal and expected capital.  The words "normal and expected capital" do not appear in this section, correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  It reads not -- unfortunately, it's a double negative, but not just expenditures that were unanticipated or unplanned.

So therefore the opposite of not unanticipated is anticipated and planned, which, you know, having looked up the dictionary definition, seems akin to normal and expected; expected equalling planned.

MR. MURRAY:  And what you're talking about is the ICM is now available for those things, correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  What I would like to do is take you to the paragraph immediately above.  In the first sentence, it talks about how the incremental capital module is a mechanism that is available for discrete capital projects.

Then I would like to stop and focus on the second sentence, because I think this is very important.  This sentence says:

"The details of the mechanism are described in the report of the Board, 'New policy options for the Funding of Capital Investments: The Advanced Capital Module', issued on September 18, 2014, and a supplemental report with further enhancements will be issued in January 2016."

Do you see that.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, I do.

MR. MURRAY:  Do you see any mention of the MAADs report, and how it amended the criteria or modified the criteria?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  And that's very interesting, I think.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree that if the MAADs report didn't modify the criteria, there should probably be a reference to it there?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I'm having trouble finding the exact reference, Mr. Murray, and I can keep flipping as you move on.  But the MAADs handbook indicates that it's compacting the MAADs policy of 2015 and this handbook.

MR. MURRAY:  No.  But the part that actually talks about what the mechanism is, what the ICM is, the section that describes this is in the handbook.  It says if you want details of this, go see the ACM report.  Isn't that what it says?

It doesn't say go to see the MAADs report.  It doesn't say "as modified in the MAADs report".  It says go see the September 2014 ACM report.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Then it goes on to say that the ICM --


MR. MURRAY:  This is --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry.  It goes on to say, the -- I mean, maybe if all you needed to rely on was the previous paragraph, then you don't need the next paragraph.  But I think the Board took some thought in setting out these paragraphs, Mr. Murray.

So, again you need to read in sequence.  It starts with look at the 2014 report, but then goes on to specifically say:
"In a document of the Board entitled the MAADs handbook, the ICM is now available for any prudent, discrete, capital project that fits within an incremental capital budget envelope.  Not just expenditures that were unanticipated and unplanned."


And if those two words weren't necessary, I guess we could just rely on your paragraph.

But apparently it's important enough to be in paragraph number 2.

MR. MURRAY:  But you agree it says if you want details, go back and see the ACM report.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  And then elaborates, not unanticipated and unplanned.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we move to the next tab, which is the -- sorry.  If we could actually move to tab 13, page 79, this is the supplemental report on capital investments that was released after the MAADs handbook, correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, just a couple of days later.

MR. MURRAY:  And this was the policy if you recall from the MAADs handbook, when they said, "For details, look at the ACM report and supplemental report to be released in January 2016."


This report I believe they're referring to.  Do you take issue with that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, I do not.

MR. MURRAY:  You have reviewed this policy in the lead up to the merger of Alectra, correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Does it say anywhere in the supplemental report that the ICM requirements for post MAADs doors are different from other distributors?

MR. BASILIO:  I'm assuming it doesn't, but the fact that it doesn't really change our view that this document says something different, the MAADs policy document.

MR. MURRAY:  But you agree the MAADs policy document precedes this, and my understanding, Alectra's argument is there is a more recent document that actually changes things.

MR. BASILIO:  But all this is, it doesn't say specifically that -- I mean --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, the two documents are separated by three calendar days.  Perhaps that is a weekend, I don't know, because I don't know the days of the week in January of 2016.

But clearly, the Board was setting out something in the context of a MAADs, and so it did so in the MAADs handbook.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we can move to page 21 of the document.  Page 99 of the compendium.  5, filing requirements.  The first paragraph reads:

"Section 5 of the ACM report provided information on the filing requirements related to the ACM and ICM applications as part of cost of service or price cap IR applications.  The nature of the information required for an ACM or ICM application is unchanged by the policies adopted by the OEB in this Supplemental Report."

If I could then ask you to turn over to the next page, Appendix A, if you could look at the title:  The capital module policy, square brackets, unchanged from the ACM report.

Does that not suggest that the ACM and ICM policies remained the same as they were in the original September 2014 ACM report?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, Mr. Murray, Mr. Chair, I think we are still back to where we were, which was causing the witnesses to have to formulate argument on the stand, which is actually what this interpretive exercise should be and properly placed as to where it should be.

And I think it is unfair to walk through these documents in the manner which it is, which would be more appropriately done within the context of reply argument, not through this continued examination.

I have raised the objection before.  My friend has responded to it, but I raise it again.  And, you know, any number of interpretations could be given as to why this would apply or doesn't apply, and I think it is unfair in the circumstance to require -- the witnesses have expressed their view about what the MAADs policy was, why the MAADs policy, and what they believe it to be.  Mr. Murray has obviously a very different interpretation.

It is wrong, I think, for the witnesses to be placed in this circumstance to have to respond to his position of interpretation when they've already expressed theirs.  He is perfectly free in submissions to set out his position, and we are perfectly tree to reply to it in submissions, but I think it is inappropriate to be able to require it to be done at this instant as he picks and chooses items within this for the respond -- the witnesses have been clear what their views are.  He disagrees with it, and he can express that in submissions, but I think it is unfair to do it by way of examination.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, they have put their knowledge at the time of the merger at issue.  They say they've reviewed all of the policies and they understood that it was changed.  I am entitled to explore that issue further with --


MR. KEIZER:  But --


MR. MURRAY:  -- what their position is, and the other concern I have is I don't want to be left with a situation where in argument I raise two or three other policies and you say, well, but I wish I could have explained it.  We're in reply argument, you try to address those, explain
what --


MR. KEIZER:  I don't have to give evidence to interpret a policy.  You interpret the policy based on the words of the policy --


MR. MURRAY:  But it is not just --


MR. KEIZER:  Let me finish.  I let you finish, you let me finish.

DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead, Mr. --


MR. KEIZER:  My point was -- is this.  If his assertion is that we put in issue our position with respect to the understanding at the MAADs policy, he's asked that question.  It's been asked any number of times, and the witnesses have put it in evidence as to what their understanding was and what it was and why it was that.  That's their facts.  That's what they believe.  What they believed with respect to the interpretation of the document, they've also expressed.

Now going through various documents and say, why didn't you think this, why didn't you think that, they have already expressed what they thought.  You could go to any other page and say, why didn't you think this?  Well, bottom line is, they've already expressed in fact in my view any number of times consistently what they believe.

So now, doing this, is simply just a manner of putting submissions before the Board by doing it by way of examination, rather than doing it appropriately in final submissions, because effectively this is argument.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Shepherd, do you have a comment?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I only raise a comment because it affects all of us.

It may be that Mr. Murray on the question of what they thought at the time has already made his point.  But the secondary component of this is that we should not and Board Staff should not be placed in the position where we're the ones raising the interpretation of policy in submissions, and the applicant, first time they talk about it is in reply.

If what Mr. Keizer is saying is in his argument-in-chief, and the company will set out in detail what their understanding of the policy and why, with the appropriate references, then I think it is fair.

And I would ask him to say that he will do that so that we can then respond to their argument, because otherwise I am actually still confused about what they think.

DR. ELSAYED:  Would that be your intent in the argument-in-chief, to --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think we have actually even set that out in the evidence already.  So I think to the extent that the position of how this application aligns itself or doesn't align itself, quite frankly, to the policies in the past, you know, is part of us being able to assert the case with respect to the M-factor.

So we also had to be careful, though, that what Mr. Shepherd is asking us is, I can't anticipate, nor am I going to argue, what they should or shouldn't think or refute that in my argument-in-chief.

To the extent that the interpretation of these policies are relevant to our position, we obviously would lay that out in our argument-in-chief.

With respect to our understanding of the MAADs policy, we would lay that out in our argument-in-chief.

To the extent that that is the basis of it, we would do so.  I think that is the -- I am not going to go and do a dissertation on the MAADs policy just so people can put their assertions forward.  I will do it to the extent it is relevant to the relief we're seeking.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, if I could just say one thing.  I don't think -- there is only one other document in my compendium in terms of a policy that I was going to go through.  It was the Tooling Handbook from October 2016 which is -- also pre-dates it.  And there is certain sections there that refer to ICM, and one section refers to ICM and another section refers, I think, to capital funding, capital funding options, where the ICM is discussed.

If my friend Mr. Keizer is prepared to address in his argument-in-chief his explanation of those policies and how they're consistent with his client's view --


MR. KEIZER:  I'm not --


MR. MURRAY:  -- otherwise we raise it, he raise it in reply, and I never get a chance to respond to his interpretation.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, part of that is what reply evidence is.  I can't anticipate everything you're going to say in your reply and put it in my argument-in-chief and say, by the way, if Mr. Murray comes up with this idea this is what I think, so he can then have a right to reply to me.  It just doesn't work that way.

MR. MURRAY:  Well --


MR. KEIZER:  I mean, my -- if you have an interpretation of a policy that you believe is counter to our view and what we express in our application, you are free to do that, and then my position as a responding counsel is to be able to say, I don't understand your interpretation or I don't agree with it.

I am not hiding in the bushes waiting to leap out it.  You are asserting it.  You have a right to assert that.  All I can do in my argument-in-chief is put forward the best evidence I have as to what I am seeking in my application.

Going through the policies and having the witnesses acknowledge that, yes, the policy says that and then press them as to, why didn't you understand it at the time, well, you know, I think you already expressed and you have already asked them what was in the minds at the time.  They have expressed it, and I just think it is unfair to be able to do that at this time.

MR. MURRAY:  Do I not have an opportunity to explore whether that was in fact what was in their minds at the time?  Isn't that an option also?  Because they say the basis of the MAADs application -- the reason they merged is because they understood there was a different ICM policy for them.

MR. KEIZER:  And they have expressed that.

MR. MURRAY:  But don't I have an opportunity to probe that and whether or not that is in fact valid?

MR. KEIZER:  To ask them what the ICM meant?  I mean, they've expressed already what it is that -- what they understood.  I mean, I don't know how many more times they can say it.  You could go to any other paragraph and say what about that paragraph?  I mean --


MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps what I could do is I could just move on.  I won't talk about any more policies at this point, but I do want it on the record that my friend is not going to object to me raising certain policies, saying, you should have put these to the witnesses and asked for an explanation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Keizer, just speaking with the Chairman here, I think it would be helpful in your argument-in-chief if you set out in-depth why Alectra believes there are two ICM policies and the basis for that and what those policies are.

Now, I know you have had it in parts of the application, but I think it would certainly obviate some of this difficulty if that was in the argument-in-chief, it could be responded to in reply, and you of course would have the -- or the intervenor and Staff submissions, and you course have the right of reply.  Would that be something that Alectra could do?

MR. KEIZER:  If you are asking as the Board for me to do it, then I obviously we'll do what you want me to do to make you happy.  I will provide that submission.  But I also will provide a submission --


MR. JANIGAN: I thought you could offer.

MR. KEIZER:  As to whether I believe it to be relevant to even worry about what the ICM policies are saying, but I will also deal with that in my submissions as well.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  I will move on.  I'm not going to talk any more about policies.  I am going to move on to tab 15.

This is a copy of Alectra's reply submission that was filed as part of the MAADs application -- or I guess at that time, it was called MergeCo, but the applicants -- LDC Co, their reply submission is part of the MAADs application.

And what I have excerpted on page -- I believe it is 134, it is hard to read, 134 of Staff's compendium is the part of that submission that deals with incremental capital module applications.

Can we agree there is nowhere in this five paragraphs where Alectra says it's understanding at that time is that ICMs are only -- are available for normal and expected capital?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Well, obviously there isn't.  But, you know, where the question is going is on a plain reading of the policy, we wouldn't have felt any necessity to include any clarification here, any further clarification.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to follow up on that because if you look at the first sentence, it says the Handbook specifically addresses the availability of the ICM during a deferral rebasing period.

You will recall from our earlier discussion, the Handbook says if you want details of the ICM, go back to the ACM report.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  This is the same point.

MR. KEIZER:  Are we not just going back and doing it again?

MR. BASILIO:  I want to respond --


MR. KEIZER:  Let me deal with this in my submission.

In my view, first of all, I am not sure why, you know -- we're just going back and revisiting the same issue again, but doing it through the reply submission and taking a submission in isolation, which was actually a request for a merger under section 86 and not a section 78 rate application.

So I just think my friend is asking the same questions which he said he would not be doing under the policy by harkening back to what he already just addressed.

And I guess, again, I object to it on the same basis.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I could just move on to another question.  I have one more question on this document, and it is on paragraph 103, where it says:
"The suggestion by CCC that the Board attempts to preset conditions for ICM applications should not be adopted because any such conditions are best considered in the context of the actual circumstances of an ICM application."


Do you see that quote?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, we see it?

MR. MURRAY:  And ultimately, the OEB agreed with this submission and it didn't establish any preconditions for an ICM application.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, but first -- I mean, again you are taking me to a paragraph in isolation of looking at what the CCC's submission was on the ICM.

And I do recall that a number of -- and I won't even attempt to recall specifically what CCC said in their MAADs submission in EB-2016-0025 LDC Co's MAADs.

But I do recall discussion at that time about whether we were going to file a DSP, would this be -- were we filing next year, meaning the first year after the consolidation, an ICM application with a DSP, without a DSP, when was the LDC Co DSP going to be.

So I'm sorry, but I can't agree to the statement, because CCC was trying to set some pre-set conditions.

We're suggesting that the circumstances are evaluated in the context of a subsequent rate application, and that's exactly what has happened.  In 2018, we filed an ICM application.   In 2019 we filed an ICM application, each with an IRM.

And this year we filed an IRM application, or price cap IR application, with the first consolidated distribution system plan, which was an outcome or set out, agreed to in the merger in the decision, in the 2019 ICM application decision, and we've come to the Board with our specific circumstances in the context of this application for incremental capital funding.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I will move on.  There is one other question I have about this.  This is the MAADs more generally.

I have heard the number of 500 million or 570 million in terms of the amount of ICMs that you projected as part of the MAADs application.  Do I have that right?

MR. BASILIO:  I think it is about that amount acknowledged in the Board decision.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree with me that $500 million figure that was given as part of MAADs, there weren't any specific applications.  It was a mathematical calculation that was put before the Board.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think what we said at the time of the MAADs -- and at the time of the MAADs was that it was based on previous capital plans and the ICM formula.  And what the decision sets out is that the incremental capital funding that LDC Co has identified that they need is the $587 million.

MR. BASILIO:  We would agree there weren't any detailed plans provided in the MAADs, and I think I've already acknowledged that obviously prudency needs to be dealt with, and that would be the subject of future applications.

My assertion was really that we put forward a plan that recognized economics around availability of ICM, and a projection as to what we thought that would be.

MR. MURRAY:  So you agree the 194 projects are examples of projects, like vehicles or voltage conversion, none of those were put forward as these were the type of ICMs we applied for.  It was just a number.

MR. BASILIO:  That detail was not in the MAADs application, no.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  There was two more documents I was going to take you to, but perhaps before doing so, in anticipation of a potential objection from my friend, Mr. Keizer, I am content to deal with in submissions.

But I want to give the panel, if they want, an opportunity to address submissions that made before the Board in both the 2018 and 2019 ICM applications and, in my view how the submission they're making here today is inconsistent, in terms of there being two ICM policies with those.

To the extent my friend is happy to me referring to those documents in my submission, I am happy to do so. I just don't want to deal with the situation where there is a n objection put later on, in terms of you should have put these documents to the panel.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it's a question, I guess, of the nature of the question.

I mean, I think if he wants to refer to submissions, that's fine.  Obviously, you know, we will reply to those in the context of -- in reply submissions.  So I don't necessarily see that we have to have those put forward.

I think overall, I mean I still struggle as to the relevance of the whole trudging through every policy in the event of -- given the fact the M-factor clearly is different than the ICM.  So I am not quite sure why we're struggling so hard how to figure out how the ICM box is actually drawn.

But in any event, if it is again policy discussions and things that are interpretive in their exercise, I obviously would deal with it in my reply.  That's been nature of my objection.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I don't want to ask more questions when I am able to deal with it in written argument.  The concern I have is not having some sort of objection that to the extent I want to challenge the panel, I should put it to them.

What I was planning to do is put before them documents, 2018 and 2019 submissions, and ask them about certain sections and why the argument which they appear to be advancing here as part of this application was not advanced in those applications.

MR. KEIZER:  I do object to that nature of that question.  I mean, obviously at the time that they made those submissions, it was working within the ICM world that they made.

He thinks there was never a glimmer in their minds about a M-factor.  So I don't know if you necessarily can sit today and say, by the way, could you harken back to 2018 and think about how you would have dealt with the
M-factor then and why you aren't doing it then...

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Keizer, the only difference is -- I think you're essentially saying M-factor is a lot like an ICM, except it is multi-year and there is an envelope.

You're still saying that the ICM criteria that would apply to Alectra in this circumstance, given that it is a MAADs rebaser, are different from other people.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know where you are.  I didn't say that two minutes ago.

What I said was that if you're going to be taking what they said in 2018 and 2019 and saying you did that then, why aren't you doing that now?   I mean in my view, that was a different application, a different proceeding.

If you want to choose to raise what they previously did and it is on the public record, then that's fine.  You can raise it on the public record and reply accordingly.

But I don't necessarily see the benefit of going back and saying how can you redraw the circle when you did this in 2018 and 2019.  If you have something about what they should or could be doing based upon the DSP and the facts that are currently on the record in this proceeding, I think you should have at it.

If you are going to be going back and saying, let's see if you can redo what you did in '18 and '19, I don't see how that is relevant.

MR. MURRAY:  Is it relevant as to whether or not the argument they made with respect to what an ICM involves in 2018 is different from their argument as to what an ICM involves now?  Because I appreciate you are asking for an M-factor proposal.  Part of this application turns on what your client's view is of an ICM itself.  It's not --


MR. KEIZER:  No, I don't think it does at all, actually.  I think it turns on what an M-factor is.  That's what we've been saying all along.  Everybody else has been talking about what the ICM is.  I think we have been trying to talk about what the M-factor is.

But in any event, going back and rearguing the submissions in 2018 and '19, I can't see that as being relevant as to why you argued what you did and whatever you did.  That was in that case.  This is a different case.  Different relief.  Different application.  Different factual basis.

MR. MURRAY:  So are you saying that I can just refer to these documents in my argument and you won't raise any objections about me not putting them to the witness?

MR. KEIZER:  They're on the public record, so to the extent that you pull them from RESS and have a look at them and put them in your argument, then so be it.  And we will see where it goes.

MR. MURRAY:  Then perhaps we will move on, and is now a good time for a break --


DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, do you have a feel for how much more time you need?  Because I was just going to suggest it may be a good time to have a break now.

MR. MURRAY:  I don't think the end is imminent, so I think a break would be appropriate.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I am not sure how to interpret that, but...

MR. MURRAY:  I am hoping 45 minutes.

MR. KEIZER:  I was hoping you would say the end is nigh, but...

[Laughter]

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We will take a break until 3:30 or 3:35.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:14 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:40 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.  Okay.  Mr. Murray, please continue.

MR. MURRAY:  You will be happy to know that -- well, I will not make any promises in terms of timing.  I have looked over my notes during the break, and I have cut down some questions.  So hopefully we will be done sooner rather than later.

If I could ask you to turn to G-Staff-15, tab 23, page 205 of Staff's compendium.  I appreciate this document has already been talked about.  I am coming back here because I want to talk a little bit more about it.  But part of that is I understand that yesterday certain statements were made, and I don't believe they're correct.  So I wanted to come back and revisit it.

So this chart shows the transition and transaction costs, as well as the synergy that are expected to flow from Alectra's merger, correct?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree with me, and it is already on the record that at the end of the period, the total net synergies will be $420 million for Alectra's shareholders.

MR. BASILIO:  Right.  Net of transaction costs, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Transaction and transition costs.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  This came up yesterday and at least by my math, I am not sure the answer -- the answer did not coincide with my math.  So I wanted to rephrase the question.

Would you agree with me that by Alectra's forecast, it will fully recover all of its transition and transaction costs and net a gain of just under $30 million by the end of 2019.  Would you agree with that statement?

I ask because I think yesterday, there was some discussion about how it was at least till 2020 maybe later that you would be in the black, so to speak.

And just to let you know my math, what I have done is I have added the negative 24.8, plus four, plus 31.7, plus 31.9 which equals 42.8.

Then I subtracted the outstanding transition costs from 2020-2022 of $13 million.  So that is how I got to my number.

MR. BASILIO:  So I will just roll through it.  So total transition costs are 147.2, do you see that number?  At the end, the total.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Then total transaction costs are 24.8.

MR. MURRAY:  Correct.

MR. BASILIO:  So that adds up to 172, I think.

MR. MURRAY:  Subject to check, it sounds about right.

MR. BASILIO:   And so if you look at the gross synergies, they exceed 172 by the end of 2019.  And so effectively by 2020, we're probably there.

Even though, you know, the reality is you still have some of those transition costs being incurred in '20 and '21, but it is a relatively low amount.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we're getting to the same number.  What I've done is I have gone to the synergies net of transaction costs.  So I look at the last row.  It is the negative 24.8, plus four, plus 31.7, plus 31.9 and I get that to equal 42.

From that, what I have done is I've gone up to 2020, 2021 and 2022 and their total transition costs which are still outstanding of 8.93.8 and.3 and subtracted those.

So I get a total of 29.8 in the positive at the end of 2019.

MR. BASILIO:  I think we're in the ballpark, yeah.

MR. MURRAY:  So you would agree --


MR. BASILIO:  We are more or less through in 2019.

MR. MURRAY:  Not only through.  You are ahead $30 million.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And Alectra's not proposing to use any of these synergy savings to fund the capital shortfall that it is now facing?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  Based on the MAADs policy, no.  That is the balance that I have spoken about through the transaction that was established by MAADs policy and the MAADs decision.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree with me that there is nothing in the MAADs policy or MAADs handbook that prohibits synergy savings from being invested to fund capital?

MR. BASILIO:  No, there's nothing in there.  But I think we established the expectation, and that was acknowledged by the Board in fact in the decision, an acknowledgement that on average, on that basis, that the synergies were retained, that the shareholders, I think, had opportunity to be about 170 basis points -- I think I have the number right -- above the regulated return throughout that period.

And that was within the range of expected outcomes of the MAADs policy.  That's the basis on which we were filing the transaction and we believe it was approved.

MR. MURRAY:  And you also agree the MAADs policy allows for ICMs as part of that, too?

MR. BASILIO:  The MAADs policy clearly allows for ICM, sure.

MR. MURRAY:  But you are not asking for an ICM here.  You're asking for an M-factor, something new.

MR. BASILIO:  So, right.  And you know, thank you for the question, because it is a point I wanted to come back to.  We have been spending a lot of time talking about ICM.

Our principal concern, and I think I have articulated this, is that what we have -- and for reasons we have discussed, so I don't want to go back into it.  But what we have experienced with ICM over the past two years is creating an expectation gap relative to our understanding of the objective of the MAADs policy for ICM, which is to provide incremental capital financing, right, which was the principal concern of LDCs.

That is -- you know, we're filing a M-factor.  That's one of the principal bases, we're filing a M-factor.

What we've -- where we have understood the Board to be maybe -- anything subject to debate -- is it's been very outcomes based in terms of its policies.  I think RRFE is a good example.

Here the policy basis for ICM was to provide funding for normal and expected capital.  The LDCs that had concerns that these would be barriers to consolidation.

And so, you know, that's a very -- that's the large - you know, those ICM decisions, they're history.  But what we're here with is -- we've got a problem here if this condition persists, and that's why we're here with the
M-factor.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree with me the ICM policy, it is not for all capital funding?  The ICM policy is intended for significant and discrete capital projects.

MR. BASILIO:  All I'm -- so I am not so focussed on ICM here.  I am focussed on the policy objective, and what I am suggesting to you is that irrespective of ICM, there's an expectation -- there's a very large expectation gap between what that objective, what that stated objective is supposed to provide and what we're seeing.

We can't, you know, continuing to have 50 percent recoveries, that's a condition that can't persist, you know, based on the -- there's no sense in -- I don't think there is any sense in going back and talking about some of the discussion that Tom and Max have provided on that point.

But, you know, it's a condition that can't persist and we've offered this to try and address the objective, achieve the objective of the policy to address incremental funding for normal and capital -- normal and expected capital investments.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to move on.  I have another once again clarification question based upon some of the evidence that was given yesterday, because once again my understanding is not consistent with what I heard yesterday.  Perhaps I just misunderstood or misheard what was said yesterday.

I understood that you have business cases for all the M-factor projects included in the evidence.  Is that right?  I am not trying to trap you.  I've gone through and found a few examples and there may be more of what I believe are projects that aren't included.

So to the extent they aren't, what I would ask is perhaps an undertaking be provided to review the list and ensure they're all there and, to the extent they aren't, to provide them.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Murray, we provided all of the business cases for all of the material projects.  We can provide the business cases for all of the M-factor projects.

MR. MURRAY:  So for all 194 projects, you will provide the business case?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO PROVIDE THE BUSINESS CASES FOR ALL OF THE M-FACTOR PROJECTS.


MR. MURRAY:  And another clean-up question.  If I could ask you to turn to tab 38, which is page 398 of the compendium, and in this you were asked to prepare a description of the variance calculation between the revenue requirement for in-service capital additions and the amounts collected by the rider for the CIVA proposal.

I am focussing online 20, where it says:
"In addition, consistent with recommendation from OEB Staff, Alectra Utilities suggests that a review of the calculation of the annual M-factor riders..."

I will just stop there.  I don't need to read the rest of it.  The question I have is with respect to the word "review", which, we're not entirely clear as to what you mean by "review."

So I just wanted to confirm that the scope of review that is being discussed here is to ensure that the billing determinants used to calculate the new M-factor rate riders in the price cap IR year would be updated and correspond to those for the other DVA rate riders; is that correct?  Is our understanding correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, it was related to the billing determinants.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to tab 39 of the compendium.  Page 400.  I would just like to read from the answer to part A, where Alectra Utilities confirms that:

"If M-factor funding is approved Alectra Utilities will not be seeking ICMs during the remainder of this DSP term."

So I want to give you an example.  If during the DSP term the IESO were to issue a regional system plan and made a decision that regional system solution was for Alectra to make capital investment into its distribution system, how would Alectra finance that request?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Murray, that answer is impossible.  You would have to provide a bit of a framework and an explanation as to what the extent of the request is, and then we would have to assess it.

We have been very active in regional planning.  We have included all of the various different regional planning activities that we know at the time of developing the DSP.

We've included all of the information that we know of, and it would be the first time since we've implemented regional planning that that type of an event would take place without us being aware of it.

So if you could help us, tell us what kind of a request, we could then perhaps discuss what type of an investment it would be and how we would approach it.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, let's say it is material now, not a request, but if it is a material amount are you going to try to seek that through an ICM?  Would you seek that to fund that through base rates and reprioritize?  How would you go about funding that?  Because you seem to have indicated that you're not coming in for ICMs.

What I am looking for is something unexpected, something that's not on your radar at this time, because, as you can realize, a five-year period is quite a long time.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  You can appreciate, Mr. Murray, that as my colleague, Mr. Wasik, has put to you, what you're putting to us is so hypothetical that it's difficult for us to assert anything with great certainty at this stage.

I mean, what the statement in response is saying, that we sought M-factor funding for all these things.  If you give us M-factor funding for part we're not going to turn around and say, okay, now we're going to come back with, I don't know, let's -- only because we have talked it so much, the John Street roof, and say now we want an ICM for that.  I mean, that's what we're trying to say here, that it's not -- it's not a shell game -- it's not a game to us at all, and it is certainly not a shell game:  Is it this bucket or is it that bucket?  It's the breadth of capital funding that we seek.

So when I look at your hypothetical in the context of the IESO and regional planning, but one, potentially that regional planning impacts many, if not all, LDCs, whether in the GTA or in the province, and to that extent it is entirely possible that the Board may issue some sort of generic approach in that regard.

Again, you will turn around and say to me, well, that is hypothetical, Ms. Butany-DeSouza.  It absolutely is. So neither of us can account for what those circumstances would be.

I can tell you that if it was something so big as something from the IESO being imposed over the region or all LDCs, then that's akin to us to a change in government or IESO policy or OEB policy that would be imposed generically on all LDCs.

What this statement, A, is meant to address is, hey, if you give us M-factor for -- there's 194 projects.  Maybe you give it for 175.  Let's not try to laugh too hard.  Say you give it to us for 175 projects.  I won't turn around and say that remaining bucket, I'm going to now come forward with an ICM for that.

We think we've substantiate -- we're substantiating our case for M-factor funding, and we're not going to turn around after the M-factor is approved and say, okay, now we're going to seek ICMs for the remaining.

I can't -- beyond that, Mr. Murray, I can't speak to the hypothetical of IESO and regional planning.  We've been as actively involved as we possibly can be, and I'm not sure there's more that we can say based on that very general example.

MR. MURRAY:  So is the answer in question A about how you are not going to come for ICMs, is that limited to the 194 projects currently on the list, the M-factor list?  So for example, if there was another voltage conversion that was to come up unexpectedly for some reason in a couple of years from now, would you seek to have that funding?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No.  It is as set out in the projects in this DSP.

MR. MURRAY:  No.  But if -- any project that is not currently contemplated of the 194 list, if it was to come up and have to be done --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think we have already said that we would deal with it.  But I can't accept the premise of your prior question, which is if the IESO -- like, something far bigger and unanticipated, which is quite different from a voltage conversion project.  I can't accept that they're the same thing.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you come forward in the next five years for any ICM funding for any project that's not currently listed on the DSP, or part of the DSP?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Except that you have put to me the hypothetical of the IESO project.  So I can't say, no, I won't, because you've raised, okay, what if the IESO does X.

MR. MURRAY:  So you're saying for -- if the IESO was to do that you may come in for an ICM.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I don't know what we would come in for, Mr. Murray, and I don't know how the Board would treat it generic -- whether the Board would have a generic approach to distributors or whether the IESO would be offering some funding framework.  I have no idea, because the example is a bit beyond my ability to provide definitive circumstances, because what you're putting to me isn't definitive.  I'm not sure whether my --


MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I will approach the question another way.  Does the commitment here not to come for an ICM, does it extend to any projects beyond the DSP?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Murray, if I could -- sorry, is the intervenor --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. CANANZI:  -- counselling staff?  Or what is going on?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were in a sidebar.  So were we.

MR. CANANZI:  Well, we were in a sidebar related to counselling on how to best answer the question, and how I would respond to that is that what the intention of this is, is that anything that was -- is normal and expected as part of the Distribution System Plan, we would continue to live within that envelope of capital.  If there is an emerging need that comes out like a new subdivision that requires cable replacement, we would reprioritize, we would see if there is something else that could get bumped, we would manage within the envelope.

The whole initiative of -- this whole initiative, this whole exercise from Day 1 has been to get to a more stable level of funding, based on the needs that we see coming and that are there existing with regards to our reliability and customer concerns.

So we will live within our means within that five-year period.

Now, your hypothetical question poses changes to regulations -- I don't know.  I mean, it sort of breaks apart, you know, the whole framework, potentially, that we're operating under.  We can't answer those questions.

But within the current framework, within normal and expected capital of what's required within a distribution utility, we would live within the five-year period.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to move on.  If we could go to tab 42, page 404 of the compendium.  And I would like to read from the second full paragraph starting at line 12:

"In recent years, Alectra Utilities has been required to defer a significant amount of system renewal investments to accommodate other mandatory expenditures.  In particular, the utility has been required to defer renewal investments to accommodate large system access projects.  In 2015, system access investments comprised 18 percent of the overall capital investments..."

And it goes on to say how this is now 30 percent.

I wanted to explore this with you further.  As I understand it, in 2019, Alectra was approved for all of its system access ICM projects; is that not correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is not correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess we don't even -- were they approved for $18.7 million of ICM system access projects in 2019?  It is the Bathurst and the YRRT.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WASIK:  Yes, Mr. Murray, in the 2019 decision, Alectra was approved for the final portion of the YRRT project and the first portion of the Bathurst project.

MR. MURRAY:  And that was approximately $19 million, correct?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  18.77 million, I believe.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  And so if I go back to the above paragraph, it says it went from 18 percent up to 30 percent in terms of system access investments, correct?  So that is a 12 percent difference.

That 12 percent difference or increase represents about $31 million, correct?

MR. WASIK:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And so would you agree with me that more than 50 percent of that increase is covered by ICMs for which you are getting rate recovery?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, Mr. Murray, that would be correct.  But I think the context of this particular explanation is to demonstrate that there are system access investments that come or rise that often erode the need for us to invest in system renewals.

In that particular case, those two particular projects, we went to apply and received incremental funding for.

But the point we wanted to explain is that has been a challenge for Alectra and its predecessor utilities in the sense of continuing to work within the existing funding envelope in order to continue with the system renewal, and has eroded our ability to increase system renewal investments because we have these other investment needs that are mandatory and we need to move forward.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree with me, then, in 2019 you actually received ICM funding for all of your system access requests?

MR. WASIK:  We also had the Barrie TS upgrade, which we currently have as a system access project that wasn't approved.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree with me also in '18, by my numbers you received almost $18 million in ICM funding for system access.  Subject to check, would you agree with that?

MR. MURRAY:  If it helps, the two projects are the Pleasant TS true-up and the YRRT in 2018.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Murray, I would agree with you that we received the funding for the Pleasant TS true-up and the YRRT, the first phase, the 2018 phase.  But we did not receive the funding for the QEW Evans to Cawthra Road project.

MR. MURRAY:  No, but you did receive $18 million in 2018, correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So given Alectra has been approved for significant incremental capital for system access projects in both 2018 and 2019, can you please explain how Alectra's budget is insufficient?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Murray, there's been other system access investments relating to new connections over that time frame as well, that have put spending needs in those particular areas as well, in addition to those four ICM projects that you referenced.

MR. MURRAY:  But you agree with me that the 18 to 30 percent increase is not as dramatic because some of that is covered by -- in fact, a significant portion in 2019 is covered by ICMs.

MR. WASIK:  So the way we see it in terms of an overall planning perspective, Mr. Murray, is that if it wasn't for those increases in system access, we would have had more funding available to do system renewal and would have not fallen back behind and had a backlog of as many deteriorated assets.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to tab 31, page 385 -- if I could ask you to turn to page 387.  I am looking at the two charts there, which are figure 2 and figure 3.

Based on the graphs, would you agree with me that the biggest contributor to the increase in the number and length of service disruptions from 2017 to 2018, the biggest driver of that was adverse weather?

MR. WASIK:  So if we’re just focussing on year over year increases from 2017 to 2018, I would agree with you that Alectra experienced a significant increase in adverse weather outages relative to the 2017 levels.

I think it is also helpful, Mr. Murray, to recognize that defective equipment also increased from 2017 to 2018, and was the most significant cause of the number of customer interruptions during that same time period.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Wasik, we're on the same wavelength, because I would ask you now to turn to tab 32, page 390.  What this is -- what Staff has done is taken Alectra's information about the number of interruptions by defective equipment between 2014 and 2018, and all we've done to the graph is added a linear trend line.  Do you see that?

MR. WASIK:  I do, Mr. Murray, I see it.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you agree with me that based upon the linear trend line, defective equipment does not appear to be contributing towards the trend of worsening reliability.  The trend line is going down.

MR. WASIK:  I would not, Mr. Murray. The reason for that is it is still a significant contributor, it is the leading contributor to the outages.

What this graph also does not properly reflect is the duration.  All this reflects is the number of interruptions. It does not reflect the number of durations.

If I could, I would like to take you to the DSP, where I think it is better illustrated in terms of the impact on reliability.  In that section, if I can ask you to turn to page 119, a simpler way of examining it is that, although the number of events, in terms of defective equipment, is relatively similar over the last five years, the impact in terms of the duration of outages is significantly increasing over that time frame.

It's figure 5.2.3-9.  So what this graph reflects is that over the five years the duration of those particular outages is increasing.

What I would like to clarify in terms of the graph that you took me to on page 390 is that the number of events includes a variety of different assets, transformers, it includes overhead hardware, it includes cables, it includes all of the other asset categories.

Not all assets contribute proportionally to the duration of outages.  A transformer failure impacts relatively few number of customers, and it is a rather easy fix, but in your graph it counts as one event.

A cable failure, on the other hand, impacts many more customers, approximately four times as many, in terms of the impact and duration of the outage.

And so our DSP properly reflects that.  So for example, we have reduced our investment in the number of transformers.  We have put a lot of effort over the last few years to deal with a lot of very poor and poor transformers, especially ones that were leaking oil, and what has now come very clear to us is that the cables, when they fail, not only take an extended amount of time to correct, but are very challenging in terms of the cost to remediate and replace.

And what's more problematic with cables is that the impact -- compounding impact of failures makes the cables even worse.

We put a really clear case study in our DSP relative to the York and Hilda, which demonstrates that as cable failures take place they're more prone to additional failures, to the point where we can no longer repair.

And as a result of that, we have to go through an emergency replacement at a significant inconvenience to all of the customers.

And so although the number of events is relatively similar, that does reflect that Alectra has been trying to address these particular issues, but what it does mask is the fact that there is a significant amount of cable that is contributing to the increase in the duration of outages.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that, Mr. Wasik.

I wanted to follow up on the Hilda example you gave. You agree that there is significant investments in cable -- in underground cables that you propose as part of the M-factor?

MR. WASIK:  I wouldn't say significant.  There is some investments in terms of cable.  Majority of the investments are in base rates.

MR. MURRAY:  No.  I mean, there is a significant investment -- like, I don't mean as compared to base rates.  I mean overall.  You're investing a lot of money into -- from the M-factor into the cables.

MR. WASIK:  There are some cable replacement and injection projects in the M-factor project list, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  And you indicated in the Hilda example that when you have to do a reactive one, one where you have to act quickly, the costs can be two or three times higher, correct?

MR. WASIK:  In some cases, yes.  When we have to do it reactively -- the Hilda example is a little bit different, because we did intervene before it got to that point where the costs were exceptionally high.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we could go to -- I just want to finish this.  Perhaps we could go to SEC 51, which is found at tab 37 of the compendium, page 397.

And in this example, the second line talks about how the reactive cost was 3.21 times higher than planned.  So reactive are generally significantly more expensive than if you do it in planned beforehand.  Correct?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  Over an extended amount of time that is the case, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So would you agree with me that if you do more underground cable replacements proactively, that there should be a reduction in the reactive costs?

MR. WASIK:  If we assume that the volume of cables does not change --


MR. CANANZI:  Yes.  And maybe I can take over at this point.  I think our evidence is quite clear that the population of aging assets is increasing, and so your proposition would be correct, if not every year we weren't facing a greater and greater population.

And really, the sense of urgency in this thing, however way we slice it, is that we're not unique.  I think Vanry made the public -- made the statement on record that this is a North American phenomenon.  It was experienced as a result of, you know, expansion of communities with underground residential cable.

We're now in the phase where we have to replace this.  We have ample evidence of what we've seen coming our way and what we've had to deal with on a very reactive basis.

We're here communicating to you that it is only going to get worse and that there is an increase.

So we're faced with two situations here, two things that are compounding.  One is an increasing in population, which we put evidence forward to show you what our demographics looks like within that cable, and then the physical aspects of how cable fails over time, which is also exponential.  Those two exponential curves compounded together is what is really driving this thing.

And if we don't get ahead of it, it really -- the result is like the cable just going off like popcorn all over the place, where we're running around trying to put out these fires.

And, you know, and this is -- the analogy that I would put to you as well is that like a light bulb these are very well-understood engineering principles.  A light bulb within a high degree of probability will have a life for so many hours that it burns.  And then once it reaches that hour, there is an exponential failure rate that takes off, and that is exactly the same phenomenon that occurs with cable failures that we're trying to get ahead of and that you need to be proactive with.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to -- I want to follow up on that point.  If I could ask you to turn to page 409, the last page of the compendium.  And I ask, because I appreciate the evidence that the situation is get getting worse and you analogize you are trying to tread water.

But if you look at strategy 1, which I understand is the strategy you are proposing, it seems to -- it says that it will improve cable reliability by 8 percent.

So if cable reliability is improved by 8 percent, won't there be a corresponding reduction in reactive capital?

MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Murray, I think it is important to put context around the, improve reliability by cable -- by 8 percent relative to the 2018 level.

And so those particular improvements and decreases in terms of the various different pacing strategies are all relative to the 2018 level, which was above the historical experienced in terms of failures.

I think we provided to Ms. Grice in our response to AMPCO 12 a very clear indication, and again, I think it is a very clean way of demonstrating that the rate of failure of cable, which is averaging about 2.3 percent over the last five years, has been significantly higher than our cable renewal, which has been averaging 0.73 percent.

So at our current pace, if we continue on this, not only is the backlog going to grow, but we're going to become further and further behind when the next wave approaches.

MR. MURRAY:  You will be happy to know that I am at my last area of questions.

If we could go to tab 33, which is page 391.  Now, this is a graph that OEB Staff has created based upon the data that Alectra has provided in response to G-Staff-93.  And it shows actual and forecasted new subdivision connections between 2015 and 2024.

Do you agree with me based on this chart that the number of subdivision customer connections in Alectra's service territory is forecasted to decrease below its historic levels?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, I would agree with you, Mr. Murray.  But I think it is also helpful to put a little bit of an explanation in terms of what has been changing in terms of the subdivision landscape.

We are experiencing more and more higher-density subdivisions that require us to look at and implement a different approach of connecting these particular new places.

We've put significant amount of detail in the DSP, especially in appendix A 02, about a lot of the redevelopment and intensification in some of our areas.

We have talked about the Square One area in Mississauga, the Port Credit area in Mississauga, some the Lakeview developments in Hamilton, a lot of developments in the Vaughan metropolitan centre where the province's plan for growth is to provide higher density.

We support that.  But the bigger challenge for Alectra is how do we connect these particular new subdivisions which are of higher density structures?  Because a lot of these new developments follow modern approaches in terms of zero lot spacing.  There's a lot of developments that are promoting walkable and more street-front friendly.

And that puts a big constrain in terms of where we can put our infrastructure.  And so we have to put our infrastructure deeper.  There's more congestion with respect to all of the other utilities.

Whenever you have to redevelop and put in new subdivisions in areas that are already developed, the costs, unfortunately when you compare them again the green growth which is essentially undeveloped land and you can have a freer rein in terms of how you put your infrastructure, these particular costs are increasing.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Wasik.  I would like to follow up on that point.  Would you agree with me that urban intensification, this isn't a new phenomenon.  This has been going on for a number of years.

MR. WASIK:  Well, I think for Alectra, in many of our service areas, it is a rather new challenge.

Mississauga has recently run out of green growth.  Brampton does still have some green space, but is now moving forward.

But more importantly, the province has dictated a higher density requirement in terms of new developments.

So I would say that it is rather a new challenge for Alectra, and it is one that we are working at and trying to put in place.  But I think we also have to properly plan and properly budget what we anticipate those costs are going to be, because they are different than the green growth that we experienced in the past.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you agree with me that for Mississauga, that the intensification actually began as early as 2006?  And to the extent you want to, the reference is page 393 of the compendium, your response to Energy Probe 24.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So, yes, it is relatively recent over the last ten years. But what we're now anticipating is for that to intensify considerably over the next five years, with larger projects.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to go to page 408 of the compendium, this part of the evidence shows population increases that are projected for your various cities and regions in your service territories.

If you look between 2021 and 2026, it looks like some of your key areas.  Peel Region is going down from 19 percent population growth to 9 percent.  The City of Hamilton is going from 12 percent population growth to 6 percent. York region is going from 12 percent growth to 8 percent growth.

So it seems like the population growth that's been happening in the 905 is actually slowing down.

MR. WASIK:  Well, Mr. Murray, I think what it also reflects -- and I think our projections reflect that, that we have paced our number of connections relative to those growth areas.  But it is still very healthy; 9 percent, 8 percent, you know, 7 percent growth over that particular period of time is a considerable amount of growth.

And, you know, the percentages are compounding in terms of the number of growth and as the cities mature and develop.

MR. CANANZI:  Mr. Murray, I guess a follow-on question is the inference that population growth is somehow related to policies of intensification that the province is trying to -- has moved forward with.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I was understanding there is more intensification.  I was thinking more intensification, I think there was more people moving there.  It seems that curve is slowing down, I guess was the question.

MR. CANANZI:  That may be the case.  But nevertheless, there is a policy by the province and what we're seeing from developers coming forward is, you know, intensification projects that are designed with intensification in mind.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, I think those are all of my questions.  I would just like a minute to review all of my notes to make sure I don't have anything further.

Thank you.  Staff has no more questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Murray.  The panel has some questions.  Ms. Anderson?
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So the first thing I would like to do is to take a look at the condition assessment, which I believe was Exhibit 4, appendix D, and I was particularly looking at figure 1 on page 8.

This follows up a little bit from questions from Ms. Grice, just to make sure I understand what we've got on the record. I know there was a discussion about different approaches to asset condition assessment, and that you can't look at trends because you did it in a different way.  So we will wait to get page 8, I think.

So my question is on this type of figure.  Do you have that by rate zone and has that been filed?

MR. WASIK:  So when we undertook to complete the asset condition assessment, we did it by the entire asset categories.

We did not present or have a figure that has it broken down by rate zone.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So even though it is now on one consolidated basis, you can't -- you can break it by asset, but not by rate zone, is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct, yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  In my experience, everyone has a slightly different definition of the word "project".   Do we have one from you on the record?

MR. WASIK:  We think so.  In our view, it generally follows that there is a defined scope, defined schedule, and a defined cost associated with an initiative.

And in our view, it is one that drives a specific outcome, one desired outcome.

In our view, a program is more based on historical practices.  It is just one where you just continue doing and you don't really have a defined scope, a defined element.  And the best way you can estimate what the cost is just by looking at historicals, without properly going through and designing by scope and by schedule.

So for us, the approach we have taken with project is that each project has to stand on its own merit and has to have a specific outcome.

And then we can weigh that outcome against the cost, the schedule, and the scope to determine whether it is a valid approach.

MS. ANDERSON:  So --


DR. ELSAYED:  If I can just interrupt for a second?  If you take an example like cable replacement, is that a project or a program?

MR. WASIK:  That would be a project.  Each site that we select, Mr. Chairman, is a project because we evaluate each neighbourhood.

So we will work through and understand how a feeder performs and understand which customers on that feeder are being interrupted. And then we will dive deeper and try to understand, okay, what is the root cause of that particular issue.

Once we understand the root cause, then we can start talking about what kind of solutions.

So the root cause is essentially a need.  Once we define what the need is, we design a project to address that particular need.

DR. ELSAYED:  So to use that example, then, you would get approval for how much cable replacement --


MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- and manage within a specific project for the whole thing as a project?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  And, Mr. Chairman, the other thing we also do is we -- unfortunately, the number of projects, the number of needs outweigh our available funding and resources.  So what we then have to do is use similar criteria to determine which particular area to start with.  Then we will look at, for example, the condition of the asset.  We will look at the number of customers that are impacted, the criticality of how it fits, sequence it with other neighbourhoods.

All of those things are taken into consideration because as we try to extract as much value out of our investments, we do have to go through a rigorous exercise to figure out where to start, how to start, and what's the best sequence to do it in a clean and economic manner.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, Ms. Anderson, please continue.

MS. ANDERSON:  Because some utilities use the term grandparent projects, parent projects, that kind of thing.

And the grandparent might be cable replacement in general, but the project itself is a particular windjammer, or something like that.  Is that -- you don't use that term.

MR. WASIK:  No.  So one of the challenges we had, Ms. Anderson, was that when we came and consolidated our plan together, we needed to come up with a level and a common approach across all of the rate zones.

And so we felt that the best way to do that is to put a project on everything, and that allows us to properly evaluate a project in St. Catharines against one in Mississauga.  But it also allows us to compare a cable replacement project against a truck project.

Now, they both have to -- we have to do both.  But it just, it highlights to us that there are different criticalities, in terms of moving forward with these particular investments, and we're left with a very difficult decision that, you know, we can't do it all, so we have to -- we have to put a long-term plan.

And I think that is one of the benefits of having a five-year plan, is that we know we can get to these specific things and it doesn't require us to reshuffle everything and try to scramble.  We can put these particular projects in place and work through a very paced and organized manner.

Especially with underground cables, if I may, I can expand a little bit, that these projects require an extensive amount of planning.  You want to give customers notice before you rip up their driveways and are in the neighbourhood and ripping up roads.

So having some opportunity to plan forward, get the permits from municipalities, work through these particular processes, is not only helpful for us in terms of being able to do it effectively, but all of the other utilities that work with us, including the municipalities, we can minimize the interruptions on the customers and deal with a more satisfied customer when we can do it more effectively and don't have to come back a year later and rip up a brand-new street, which is never an objective that we're trying to achieve.

MS. ANDERSON:  So my next question follows up on one that Ms. Girvan asked.  She asked you whether you responded to letters of comment.  There is quite a number of them on the record.  And I completely understand the answer is that you can't respond to the actual letters.

With our cost-of-service filing requirements you have to respond to the subject matters that are within those letters of comment.  And it is not normally something that we have in an IRM application, but this is, as you said, a bit unique.

Is that something that you have -- have you reviewed those letters, could you respond to the matters raised within the -- those letters without responding to the actual letter?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We definitely reviewed the letters.  I am not -- I can't recall the manner in which, absent the ability to respond directly to those customers, how we would respond more broadly.

MS. ANDERSON:  It is just, what themes did you get from them?  And, you know, if the themes are simply the quantum of the rate increase or any rate increase, then that is maybe one thing.  Were there other themes, and how would you respond to them.  Is that something you could look at?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I can tell you that the theme is generally a bit of a misunderstanding between what the rates fund.  So meaning we -- the responses that the OEB got were largely related to rate increases generally, some tied back to the PC -- the Ford government's approach to the million dollar -- $6 million man, and because at the time energy was very much in the news.  And so that was part of the nature of some of the, let's say, confusion.  Or there was just protest in terms of a rate increase.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

Variance account.  You have something called an externally driven capital variance account.  And I think someone was asking this question.  I am not quite sure I heard the answer.

You have a M-factor.  You have calculated a materiality threshold with that M-factor.  But on top of it you have this variance account.

So what would happen if you wanted to record something in this variance account and that, plus the M-factor funding, meant that you were well over the materiality threshold?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We would still live within the $9 million -- $9.3 million threshold.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  Within the materiality threshold that is established?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I would like to take us back to the financial plan, Exhibit K2.5, and it was -- Mr. Shepherd had us there at Table 17.  I don't know which page that is.  But this was the calculation of rate base.

Have you got it?  So my question is, do we have this calculation of rate base in a similar way, it is well laid out, for what is being asked for in the application to the end of the 2024 period?  And if not, can that be produced?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.  I believe we provided this in response to an undertaking.  Let me...

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MS. YEATES:  I believe that would be in response to SEC question part F.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  I believe that was at rate base.  But did it have this sort of breakdown?  I don't recall.

MS. YEATES:  Yes, it has the same line items.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And so to confirm, that is based on what has been asked for in the application, as far as the M-factor?

MS. YEATES:  So what Table 1 presents is, it isolates the impact on rate base of the total capital that's in the DSP.

MS. ANDERSON:  In the DSP.

MS. YEATES:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  In the DSP?

MS. YEATES:  Yes.  Over the 2020 to 2024 period.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sure.  Okay, yes, those are my questions.  Thanks.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Thanks very much.  You know, the technicians here have left two Post-it notes, one on this microphone saying "good and on this one saying "too hot", and with no illusions I am going to use the "too hot" one.

[Laughter]

MR. JANIGAN: I want to go back to the comments and discussion that we have had about cable replacement.  And as I understand it, Mr. Wasik, you referred to an AMPCO interrogatory that showed the rate of replacement throughout the -- this decade, which seems to have lagged considerably the failure.  What's the reason for that?

MR. WASIK:  So part of the challenge that we have are cable replacements are expensive.  They take a long time to plan, and require us to, you know, go through the particular process.

But the biggest issue that we're facing is that the funding has been lagging the volume that is coming due for replacement, so as Mr. Cananzi is pointing out, our growth didn't happen linearly.

The growth happened on an increasing basis, on an exponential basis.

So we're finding ourselves at the beginning of the cliff and we're going on a too slow of a pace, and the rate increase -- excuse me the increase in terms of rate of failures is pacing us.  And all we're trying to do is maintain that pace in order for us to maintain the level of reliability.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it seemed from the AMPCO interrogatory that the replacement rate earlier in the decade lagged failure rates quite substantially.  There was no effort to try to address that at the time by the individual distribution utilities?

MR. WASIK:  There was.  There was effort, Mr. Janigan, in the sense that we have been trying to ramp up our investments.

We have unfortunately had to focus on other areas that have required us to move forward, and often times system renewal is pushed back, so that new connections and additional feeders to connect new customers to meet our filing -- excuse me, our distribution license requirements is maintained.

So mandatory projects have been pushing higher priority for us, and unfortunately it has come at the expense of not keeping up with cable replacement.

MR. JANIGAN: I understand from the discussion I believe you had yesterday about -- no, two days ago, about XLP cable that it is a primary cause -- its failure is a primary cause of outages.

And as well, as I understand it, the injection process, if it is done in a timely manner, saves like five or six times the cost of replacement.

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN: And the XLPE cable replacement for the most part are put into base rates?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.  We have put a majority of the projects into base rates.

MR. JANIGAN: And the PILC cable, is that also something that is subject to failure and also timely injection to reduce costs?

MR. WASIK:  So the PILC cable isn't eligible for injection.  It is a different type of cable technology.

But right now, our pressing need is the XLPE cable.  So there is need for PILC; we included some portions of it. But the bigger and more pressing need is for us to address the XLPE cable, which is having a higher impact on our reliability.

MR. JANIGAN: I am wondering why all of XLPE cable is not in base rates instead of the M-factor projects.

MR. WASIK:  We just didn't have a sufficient amount of funds in base rates and unfortunately, the need in the underground renewal exceeded that.

So we tried our best to balance as much as we can in, it just wasn't sufficient.

MR. JANIGAN: Okay.  I have a question concerning what Alectra might wish us to do with the results of our deliberations.

In effect, there are three potential results.  One is we accept your M-factor as applied for.  Two, we accept your M-factor with amendments.  Or three, we reject your
M-factor.  In the event that we choose three, what would Alectra urge us to do?

Now I understand from -- the reason I am asking this is that throughout this proceeding, we have gotten two messages, one is this is not an ICM application.  The second is it's not a case of all or nothing at all.

So I am trying to sort of put that together in the event that door number 3 is what ends up in the decision.

If you are not able to answer this at this time, that's fine.  It could be addressed in argument-in-chief, for example.

MR. BASILIO:  I think that is the correct approach.  I would just say that I think what we will offer are a range of options.  But something we won't offer, and we will be very concerned about is we can't walk away with nothing.  Because customers are at the other end of this, and I don't think it is in any of our interests to create a situation where this condition -- you know, the conditions outlined here persist in the absence of incremental funding for this type of capital.  But we will put forward that in our reply.

MR. JANIGAN: Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you, panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Janigan.  I hate to be the one that is standing between everybody and the weekend, but I do have some questions.

I just want to understand the process that you followed to arrive at the DSP, the consolidated DSP.  I am assuming each of the predecessor utilities had a capital program, and I am sure you considered all of that.

So can you just explain briefly how you took all of that and then came up with a prioritized consolidated DSP?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, absolutely.  So since the formation of Alectra, we have been consolidating a lot of our practices.  But clearly, we had to start from the bottom.

So we started with a fresh slate and we tried to put the notion of a very disciplined asset management, principled-based approach to how are we going to address the various needs of our system.

The process started with us reaching out to customers and asking them what their needs and priorities were.  That was very important to us, because we wanted to make sure that whatever plan we put forward, it is given with a direction of what is the outcomes that are expected for us to deliver.

Second, we took a look at all of the various different internal studies, like the asset condition assessment.  We took a look at the various different needs of the organization from fleet, facilities.  We took a look at capacity studies, the various different normal planning practices that a utility does.

We also then started speaking with external agencies, the regions, the municipalities, to understand the developers, the various different large users and different industries in the area, to make sure we have a good understanding in terms of what their evolution and needs are going to be in terms of the plans, including the IESO, Hydro One, all of the regional studies.

We brought those in and we created a list of various different needs.  And then once we had a good understanding of those needs, that's where the engineers started to work and understand and get to the root cause of how to address these needs and develop business cases, develop solutions.

Then we built this Copperleaf system, where we put all of those business cases, solutions in together.  We evaluated them, scored them, approved them, worked through the various different iterations to determine what would be the most effective portfolio to deliver maximum value for our customers and the various different stakeholders of the plan.

And then went back to the customers and said we came up with a solution.  We now priced it for you.  We heard what you told us in the first pass.  This is what your options are.

And when we presented it to the customers, we said we can do it at this rate.  We can slow it down.  We can speed it up.  What would you like us -- how would you like us to proceed?

Once we received that feedback, we made the adjustments and finalized the plan.

At that particular point, it became clear that there wasn't a sufficient amount of funds in base rates, and that's when we took on that additional step of trying to determine which projects should go in base rates and which projects should go into the M-factor.

And then started working with our regulatory group to determine what would be the path that we can take to execute the DSP, to deliver the outcomes that we've assessed based on the needs of the system and the needs of our customers.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  How did you draw the line at 884 projects and not 600 or 700?

MR. WASIK:  So we have a tool in the Copperleaf system that allows us to run various different levels of funding to determine what the outputs are.

And based on that, it allows us to determine what the different bounds, based on how much budget, how much resources, what the various different risks are.  And when we evaluated those, we came up with what we call an optimized solution which allows us to pick the projects that drive the maximum score of the entire portfolio.

So it did take us quite a lot of work to work our way down to find that, and strike that right balance between good outcomes for customers, trying to be mindful of the fact that we're trying to keep stable rates.  But we recognize that there are needs in the system, and what do we need to do to maintain reliability over the five years of the plan.

DR. ELSAYED:  So when you say resources, are you talking about both financial resources as well as human resources?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.  You know, we have to take a look at how we plan our work.  We have to be realistic, to say, you know, if we leave everything to the last year it is just not going to be possible for us.  The city won't permit us to do all of this work within one year.  There is all kinds of various different staging and contingencies that have to be taken into account.

Like, for example, you want to build a station first before you build the feeders.  So there is a sequencing of work.  All of that has to take into consideration and it has to reflect, you know, the proper work of how the system gets built and maintained.

DR. ELSAYED:  When you presented to your board of directors or when they approved the plan that's significantly below what you are asking for here, did you provide to the board of directors some sort of risk analysis of what that meant, given that it is much lower than what you need?

MR. CANANZI:  Yes, there was discussion on that.  I think it was important for us, and as you have seen through the evidence, that we laid out and presented to the Board what our capital requirements are in their entirety, but we also put in a line in there to say, we may not get all of that, and here's what the plan would look like if we didn't.

So we had a discussion on that.  We had very extensive discussion on what's happening within -- specifically within the asset class of underground cables, and, you know, the whole scenario that we've explained over the last few days through these proceedings was played out for our Board.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I think these are all of my questions.  Thank you.  And I would like to thank everybody for being here, and we're adjourned for today.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  One thing, perhaps, we should --


DR. ELSAYED:  Oh, sorry, I forgot to ask Mr. Keizer if he has any redirect.

MR. KEIZER:  No, I do not.

DR. ELSAYED:  You have been given five minutes.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, now that I have five minutes...

[Laughter]

MR. KEIZER:  No.  No.  I don't have any redirect.

DR. ELSAYED:  No, okay.  Did I hear anybody hear anything else, or is that it?  Okay.  Thanks, everybody.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:49 p.m.
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